

Monograph

Jana Hanuliaková–Dáša Porubčanová Positive Education

The Axiom of Contemporary Upbringing and Education







Ez a mű a Creative Commons Nevezd meg! - Ne add el! - Így add tovább! 4.0 Nemzetközi Licenc feltételeinek megfelelően felhasználható. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0/



Positive Education. The axiom of contemporary upbringing and education

Jana Hanuliaková and Dáša Porubčanová

https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4536-5770 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5287-682X

Education, general (including training, pedagogy, didactics) / Általános oktatás (benne képzés, pedagógia, didaktika) (12831), Pedagogy / Pedagógia (12910)

positive psychology, student development, positive emotions, cognitive development, Seligman

DOI: https://doi.org/10.56037/978-2-336-42823-9



Jana Hanuliaková – Dáša Porubčanová

POSITIVE EDUCATION



Collection Károli

Collection dirigée par Enikő Sepsi

ISSN 2063-3297

Jana Hanuliaková – Dáša Porubčanová POSITIVE EDUCATION

The Axiom of Contemporary Upbringing and Education

Publishing Director: László Trócsányi, Ádám Gyenes, Xavier Pryen Series Editor: Enikő Sepsi

Károli Gáspár University of the Reformed Church in Hungary Kálvin tér 9.

H-1091 Budapest, Hungary T: (+36-1) 455-9060 L'Harmattan Kiadó Kossuth Lajos utca 14–16. H-1053 Budapest, Hungary

L'Harmattan France 5-7 rue de l'Ecole Polytechnique 75005 Paris

© Authors, 2024 © Károli Gáspár Református Egyetem, 2024 © L'Harmattan Kiadó, 2024 © Éditions L'Harmattan, 2024

The monograph was created within the international project: *Psychologie positive*– paradigme de l'education des étudiants de lénseignement secondaire qui
développe les compétences personnelles pour la vie – EEIG-EU/P.Kr/04th APRIL/21

Reviewers: Lenka Pasternáková and David Anthony Procházka Language editor: Karolína Magdady

> Cover picture: Sofia Príbelszká Source: www.freepik.com

ISBN 978-2-336-42823-9 DOI: https://doi.org/10.56037/978-2-336-42823-9

Volumes may be ordered, at a discount, from:
L'Harmattan Könyvesbolt
1053 Budapest, Kossuth L. u. 14–16.
T: +36-70-554-3177
harmattan@harmattan.hu
www.harmattan.hu
librairie.internationale@harmattan.fr
www.amazon.fr

Print layout: Károli Könyvműhely Project manager: Katalin Gáspár Layout editor: Gábor Kardos Cover design: László Kára Printing: Prime Rate Ltd. Manager: Péter Tomcsányi

CONTENTS

Introduction
1 Positive psychology. Theoretical–philosophical basis
of positive education
1.1 Founders of positive education
1.2 Positive psychology movement
1.3 Theories and research related to positive psychology
2 Positive education. Paradigm of contemporary education
2.1 Principles of positive education
2.2 Positive education and school success
2.3 Positive education and undesirable behaviours
2.4 Intervention programs in the school environment
3 School – a positive institution
3.1 Positive school and classroom climate
3.2 School as a safe space
3.3 School as a space for compliance
4 Positive education in pedagogical reality. Research findings 57
4.1 Positive education from the viewpoint
of secondary school students
4.2 Positive education from the viewpoint
of secondary school teachers
4.3 Didactic work of the teacher and positive psychology 75
4.4 School leadership and positive psychology
Conclusion
References

INTRODUCTION

The entry of positive psychology into the educational process brings about the initiation of a significant change in teachers' approach. Reorientation means shifting from traditional approaches to developing the best qualities of students, people and society. The direction of educational work is focused on supporting such teaching, which supports the mental health of students – youth and adults alike.

Positive psychology, which began to develop significantly in the third millennium, and in Slovakia especially in the last ten years, calls for emphasis to be placed on the positive areas, the positive aspects of human life. Experts who deal with education and its determinants focus on finding the context, connections and interdependence of the elements of positive psychology and education. The time a student spends in the school and the environment there affect his out-of-school life.

Phenomena such as well-being, contentment, happiness, enthusiasm, resilience, love, friendship, joy, optimism, humour, resilience, altruism, empathy, forgiveness, spirituality, and the meaning of life are part of everyone's daily activities. For this reason, we consider it important that teachers should begin to deal with this phenomenon within their didactic work in the educational environment. The movement of positive psychology does not negate, does not deny the existence of deficits, difficulties, disorders, or problems in the lives of individuals, but directs activity, activities to the optimal functioning of not only students but also all actors in school life to define the resources that surround it, and then these resources will develop. Martin Seligman, the founder of positive psychology, emphasized that positive psychology uses the same set of tools as traditional psychology, so there is no need to create a new construct for positive psychology. All that is needed is to "change the object of interest" - that is, to go primarily from the "correction" of what is bad and negative in life to the creation, and development of what is best in life. It is, therefore, a matter of salutogenesis in life, the support of individual sources of health, human strengths, and the development of what potentially leads to a good quality of life in families, schools, and workplaces. It is about supporting the optimal functioning of the human being, as well as his faith and hope that it will be successful. The direction of positive education means, above all, the search for, detection, identification and development of positive possibilities of the pupil, not only within the framework of his cognization, but also motivation, emotionalization, socialization, and self-regulation.

As a part of the new trend, Seligman identifies three basic pillars:

Pillar 1: the use of positive emotions,

Pillar 2: the use of positive personality traits – qualities, abilities, and talents, Pillar 3: the use of positive social institutions (strong family, school education and institutions supporting positive personal development and true democracy).

In the context of the text, we focus primarily on school education. Positive education puts the positive climate at the forefront, a climate where the needs and interests of the students are taken into account: positive relationships and interactions at different levels, tolerance, support for heterogeneity of ideas, and solutions, doing things in a new and radical way, solving problems based on cooperation, finding solutions to problems. With this approach, the educational process supports competencies, such as altruism, philanthropy, solidarity, self-confidence, trust in others, coping, conflict and crisis resolution, responsibility, morality, and spirituality.

The book is a set of theoretical starting points, philosophical considerations and practical views on education in a positive context, accepting the starting points of the positive psychology movement. The authors' efforts are meant to extend from theoretical starting points and research investigations to practical didactic recommendations. The book explains how it is possible to integrate elements of positive psychology and positive education into the traditional educational process.

The school as an institution is required to meet the real needs of society. Schools are the most traditional, the most conservative, the most rigid, and the most bureaucratic institutions these days. The existence of new trends, whether alternative schools, creative lessons, opportunities for individual study, or activating methods, is gradually emerging in schools. The teacher is required – not like in the past – to teach so that the student is ready to engage in a world of work, a world of further study, a world of success and disappointment. There is a question about how students can make judgments in the future when they do not have the opportunity to do so at school.

This book aims to clarify the theoretical apparatus of a positive approach to education in terms of the didactic approach of teachers.

The first part, *Positive psychology. Theoretical—philosophical basis of positive education*, contains chapters in which the authors clarify the movement of positive psychology as a theory that represents the study of human thinking, emotion and behaviour, emphasizes strengths instead of focusing on the weak and supports building the good in life, the place of correction of the evil. Representatives of positive psychology emphasize emotions during human life,

INTRODUCTION

they emphasize that the human behaviour that affects relationships creates the environment and living climate.

The second part, *Positive education*. *Paradigm of contemporary education*, defines the elements and principles of positive education, which has a theoretical basis in positive psychology. The education accepting positive psychology aims to achieve student success in various directions and areas. This unit also contains a selection of intervention programs that have been applied in educational practice at home and abroad.

The third part, School - a positive institution, defines the school as a positive space, which is a necessary condition for successful and effective positive education. In addition to the positive evaluation of the school as a space, we also speak about it as an environment that must ensure safety. Security on a social and emotional level.

The fourth part, *Positive education in pedagogical reality. Research findings*, discusses the didactic possibilities of the teacher's work in the application of positive psychology. The elaborated didactic recommendations are conceived in the areas that Zelina regard as important for positive education: cognitive development of the pupil, positive motivation, positive socialization, positive emotions, student self-regulation, the potential of the pupil in life.

The Authors

1 POSITIVE PSYCHOLOGY

Theoretical-philosophical basis of positive education

 focuses on the positive aspects of personality and the development of human potential

- responds to the general preference for the negative phenomena of human life and problem areas of the psyche
- leads to a change in lives and at the same time notes the impact on the most important turnaround, which is the benefit of the emerging young generation
- strives for a positive view of life, it is a change in the setting of perception of the reality of life moments and events with a direct impact on human prosperity
- builds a person's resilience to crises, burdens, conflicts, provides advice and procedures on how to overcome negative news and stimuli from around the world
- within education, it focuses on revealing and cultivating the positive possibilities of the student, on improving his motivational potential, on revealing possibilities in the field of cognitive, social, emotional and selfregulatory

A person as specific individuality and uniqueness is part of many interactions at the level of the cognitive and emotional-will dimension.

At present, scientists in the field of positive psychology are scientifically studying the various emotional, intellectual and social areas of young human life and their impact on a happy experience following the desire for knowledge, love, wisdom, truth, happiness, and success, after determining and achieving personal life goals. According to the above intentions, it is possible to consider positive psychology as beneficial, especially for the young generation, which wants to achieve emotional satisfaction in a full life.

According to Košťálová (2016), the psyche is an active perception of the external world of an individual, based on the properties of purposefully arranged matter, i.e. the brain, creating an image and subsequently directing behaviour and activities associated with solving existential situations in his life.

Until the end of the 20th century, as it is stated by Křivohlavý (2010), the interest of psychologists focused on the negative of psychopathological reality. This is confirmed also by Seligman's experience in his professional practice, which focused on achieving the main aim of psychology, which is to alleviate suffering and minimize the effects of patient anxiety by eliminating the cause of the problem (Seligman, 2014).

Psychology as a science deals with a wide range of problems and defects in human life, which adversely affect the human psyche, and destroy not only the mental, and physical but also the social side of a person.

Positive psychology takes a scientific approach to the study of human thinking, emotion and behaviour, emphasizing strengths instead of focusing on the weak and building the good in life, instead of correcting the bad.

1.1 Founders of positive education

Positive psychology aims to be able to elevate the lives of ordinary people to a higher quality, instead of bringing those who suffer only to a normal level (Peterson et al., 2008).



Figure 1. (From above and from left:) Martin Seligman, Sonja Lyubomirsky, Ed Diener,
Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi. Down: Barbara Fredrickson.
Live Happy magazine, October 2013, Bill Cahalan

Decades before the definition of positive psychology, the following researchers devoted themselves to this area in terms of theoretical reflections as well as practical approaches:

1 Positive psychology

Abraham Maslow and Carl Rogers: Theoretically and practically, in their work with clients and research, they focused their attention on human needs and healthy human development. Humanistic psychology brought new beliefs that a person has a desire to live his life in a way that gives him the feeling that he is developing and fulfilling his potential. One is happy when one learns, improves, uses and develops one's abilities. In the Person-Centered Approach (PCA), Carl Rogers states, among other things, that authenticity (being oneself) and self-acceptance make a significant contribution to self-satisfaction and life.

Martin Seligman, President of the American Psychological Association, and founder of Positive Psychology (1999): He emphasizes the meaningfulness of being and he is the author of the 2002 theory of true happiness, which measures life satisfaction and, in a larger study from 2014, measures well-being (Seligman, 2014).

Mihaly Csikszentmihalyi: Even before founding Positive Psychology of the Decade, he researched the so-called optimal survival, a state of mind he called FLOW. We experience FLOW during demanding activities when we concentrate fully and are relaxed. People who experience such conditions are happier because of them.

Barbara Fredrickson: In her action theory, the broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions, she explored the importance of positive emotions, which allow people to be creative, playful, and curious, giving them opportunities to gain new physical, social and intellectual resources.

Daniel Goleman: He dealt with emotional intelligence in the positive psychology movement. He intended to seek the penetration of rational cognition into emotional life. Expressing young people's emotions is part of the process of formal and non-formal education at school and beyond, and therefore he emphasizes the need to address socio-emotional literacy. Socio-emotional literacy should be part of the school curriculum or part of the teaching and learning subjects.

The scientific and professional work of the representatives of positive psychology documents the cooperation according to the focus of their subject of research. The most extensive collaboration of the positive psychology movement is a monograph about positive psychology, written by Snyder and Lopez, to which 107 contributors contributed. Authors who contributed their thoughts are Seligman, Maddux, Wright, Lopez, Keyes, Watson, Nakamura, Csikszentmihalyi, Diener, Lucas, Fredrickson, Knapp and others. At the individual

level, Snyder and Lopez explore topics such as the identification of strengths, desire for knowledge and wisdom, hope, well-being, creativity, life optimism, subjective emotional well-being and others. At the level of interpersonal relationships, they deal with topics such as empathy and altruism, responsibility, love, compassion, friendship, forgiveness and reconciliation, moral motivation, sense of family and society, gratitude, social closeness and relationships, spirituality and others (Snyder, Lopez 2002).

Positive psychology has supporters in the Slovak Republic and the Czech Republic, where it is an inspiration and motivation for many teachers. From Slovakia: Slezáčková included Kováč (1997, 2001, 2007), Halama (2001, 2002, 2007) and others. From the Czech Republic, Křivohlavý (2004, 2006, 2007, 2009, 2010), Mareš (2008, 2009, 2012), Slezáčková (2009, 2010, 2011) and many others.

1.2 Positive psychology movement

The scientific and professional movements of positive psychology arose as a reaction to the fact of general preference for the negative phenomena of life and problem areas of the psyche. Seligman characterizes the following primary and main aims of positive psychology like this:

- understand the mental satisfaction of a person in life,
- suppress the preference for examining the negative phenomena of life,
- balancing the subject of research on the positive aspects of life, so that life is not just an ordinary experience, but a quality life.

In his research, he called for the diagnosis and provision of supportive optimal living conditions for active meaningful mental well-being. The starting point is the application of positive elements to all spheres of life in human society, not just to the individual.

Positive feelings, such as joy, humour, optimism, support of personal strengths, interest in the activity, identifying success and developing human potential and diversity, self-realization, positive social relationships, a society characterized by love, sincerity, belonging, hope, gratitude, possibilities of content necessary for healthy human prosperity (Seligman, 2014).

Every human event is limited by positive and negative emotions. There are studies by psychologists that emphasize the importance and significance of negative emotions. There is an addiction between positive and negative emotions, which is defined by the works of Slezáčková (2012), Resnicka et al. (2001), Aspinwall and Staudinger (2003), and Helda (2004).

Positive psychology focuses on mental well-being while living, and not just on understanding mental hardship and eliminating the influences that cause the condition. Positive psychology makes people happier and it eliminates the negative effects on a person's mental health. It is a scientific study of developing the potential and superposition of a person's personality, along with building the best life traits for quality living (Seligman, 2012).

The content of the term positive psychology consists of these subcategories: happiness, love, gratitude, optimism, hope, character, vitality, meaningful moments of life, and enriching relationships between people, which is the basis for optimal human development in today's modern times.

1.3 Theories and research related to positive psychology

The power of emotions for human life is perceived by philosophers, psychologists, sociologists, and educators. Several representatives of the positive psychology movement were inspired by the works of ancient philosophers such as Aristotle, Hippocrates, Socrates, and Heraclitus. In their work, we find reflections on happiness, the meaning of life, moral motivation, wisdom, and spirituality. Aristotle, the Greek philosopher in his work *Nicomachean Ethics*, characterizes happiness as a virtue. When can a person be virtuous and believe that happiness will come in the form of kindness, generosity, justice, wisdom, friendship, and morality? The correct answer is the simplest: when a person's all efforts are directed toward being happy.

In 1954, Abraham Maslow was the first person who used the adjective *positive* for psychology in his book *Motivation and Personality* (Šolcová, 2005, in Slezáčková, 2012).

Theoretical and empirical studies of positive psychologists present concepts, scientific backgrounds, findings and strategies. They can be applied in everyday life, in an individual form, such as the ability to love, to show courage, to help a person to be better, to be more courteous, more tolerant, more responsible to himself, but also in family, team, nation — everywhere where people work together and live as a society.

Theoretical starting points contain conceived theories and strategies that form the basis of pedagogical reality and practice in the educational process.

Flow concept

The importance of positive psychology for human life is an inspiration, help, leadership, and a demonstration of how to achieve mental well-being in an authentic full life. Psychologist Csikszentmihalyi conceived a timeless concept

of flow, which is used by positive psychologists as well as anthropologists and sociologists, in studies of well-being or motivation. Applying the concept of flow brings a remedy to everyday life at the level of the individual or society. In his concept of flow, he works in the spheres of optimal human behaviour and living. The sense of flow summarizes positive approaches to human life, such as creativity, joy, and overall interest in life. He examined the state of the human mind in activities that create absorption, such as sports, art, games and hobbies. FLOW plays an integral part in social relationships in an individual's life. It is used in curriculum education and companies during senior staff training. The nice branch is special pedagogy, clinical psychotherapy, reeducation centres or homes for the elderly (Csikszentmihalyi, 2015).

PERMA theory

Another is the theory with five elements of PERMA. According to Seligman, it should be applied in practice in the fields of education, economics, psychotherapy, medicine and state policy. He cites, as an example, students in schools who not only acquire competencies for job success but also achieve existential satisfaction (Seligman, 2014).

He reworked his theory, which he sophisticatedly supplemented with support for twenty-four strengths and virtues, establishing the second theory of mental well-being, using the acronym PERMA for the five elements in the program.:

- P positive emotions and positive emotionality include factors of subjective pleasant living such as pleasure, warmth, hope, satisfaction, joy, gratitude and others. Fredrickson (2001) found in his theory that positive emotions, without suppressing negative emotions, but with an increased frequency of positive emotions have an impact on the effectiveness of teenagers' learning.
- E engagement, engagement in activities give a subjective feeling of enthusiasm, absorption, flowing, engagement of characters and personality skills. Interest and curiosity lead adolescents during education to be determined in meeting goals, challenges, and a sense of strength, and vitality (Froh et al., 2010; Hunter, Csikszentmihalyi, 2003). Supporting internal motivation, interest, identifying and supporting the strengths of high-school personalities (Bakker, 2005). High-school students in positive education intervention lessons identify and analyze their strong character traits (Park, Peterson, 2005).
- **R** relationship (positive relationships): quality positive interpersonal relationships, positive experiences (joy, success, kindness and others)

objectively do not exist without the company of other people. The central domain is social-emotional health and the adolescent's ability to form and support positive interpersonal relationships. Research shows that the positive impact of social support on the social and mental health and well-being of a high-school student is clear (Bronfenbrenner, 2004). Hassed (2008) draws attention to the risk factor of social isolation for the development of adolescents and the development of depression, substance abuse, suicide and general ill-health. In schools, pupils, teachers and school staff support humour, respect and social support through discussions, where they learn to show real kindness through communication during social interactions and to sincerely and authentically support the achievements of family, friends, peers, and colleagues (Gable & Reis, 2010). Social relations are a predictor of the subjective well-being and resilience of adolescents, says Myers (2000), and meaning and life satisfaction, say Hicks & King (2009). For positive survival interventions during the education of young people without stress - see Gilman, Huebner & Furlong (2009), Paus, Keshavan, Giedd (2008), Suldo, Thalji and Ferron (2011), Keyes (2006); for school honest relationships between peers and teachers support – see Chu, Saucier, & Hafner (2010), Hawker & Boulton (2000). The overall school climate and culture indicate the living conditions of adolescents and their quality of mental health – Way, Reddy, Rhodes (2008).

M meaningfulness: positive purpose and the meaningfulness of existence contain both a subjective and an objective component, they speak about the passion and inner motivation to lead a meaningful life as an individual in society. The inner feeling of belief in meaningfulness in the education of high-school students contributes to feelings of joy, happiness, and ecstasy. In addition to the teenager and his developmental stage, interventions focus on the positive meaning and purpose of his individual as well as social existence. On when he will achieve good physical and mental health in life, high life satisfaction and strong social relationships, eliminating depression misconduct and somatic difficulties — see Cotton Bronk, Hill, Lapsley, Talib, & Finch (2009) and Damon, Menon, & Bronk (2003).

They use elements of altruism and spirituality in interventions, in the form of interviews, reflections, and examples of stories from the lives of inspiring people when they stimulate the thinking and experience of young people and their rankings of values (Waterman, Schwartz, Conti, 2008), using the strengths of the adolescent's character and personality to help (Seligman, 2005).

A accomplishment (job success), positive success, work/study success: achieving success is a goal in many human endeavours as a lifetime, the

non-coercive success of an individual has many forms through health, property, happy family, work, study, various victories and many others (Seligman, 2014, 28–33).

Adolescent mental health is a prerequisite for effective learning (Hendren, Weisen, Orley, 1994) and, along with positive emotions during teaching, promotes creativity and flexible learning – Fredrickson (2001What helps highschool students achieve valuable goals and uplifting success or even well-being is striving to overcome obstacles and disappointments, acquiring skills and good academic results, which all lead young people to face the challenges and be competitive workforce (Sheldon et al., 2010).

In this context, pedagogical staff attended training on effective feedback in adolescent education through the use of specific praise, focused on effort and perseverance, as opposed to praise focused on skills (Dweck, 2006).

In today's online digital age, high schools not only have the status of an institution for the provision of information and the acquisition of skills but also shape the overall personality of the young individual, in all areas of PERMA. In every area of PERMA, positive psychologists seek to intervene in the development and promotion of human characteristics based on research results. It is the results of Seligman's research that have shown that the increased well-being of adolescents increases the quality of learning because a positive mood increases the attention and motivation of high-school students, which, according to Seligman, is the main aim of traditional education. In which analytical, mechanical learning without a creative area of reasoning still prevails. Seligman recommends practising elements of positive education in creating a school climate with his PERMA model.

It develops self-knowledge in five principles: positive emotions, self-interest, interpersonal relationships, and the importance of living and fulfilling successes. According to Seligman, programs and inventions with the PERMA model are applied all over the world, in Britain, the USA, Spain, Australia and all over Europe (Seligman, 2012).

Norrish, Williamson, O'Connor, and Robinson are the main characters in research from the positive psychologists' movement, the results of which were implemented into programs and interventions. In each PERMA area, there is a holistic positive approach to school that includes explicit and implicit classroom learning throughout the school year, providing PERMA with a flexible framework for a thriving community in a positive school climate.

According to Seligman's theory of mental well-being, the object of positive psychology is to measure and strengthen: the "degree of optimal flourishing" of man in the global perception of people around the Earth. (Seligman, 2014, 40)

1 Positive psychology

In the implementation of positive education, the positive psychologist and author Moore extends the traditional principles of education to the study of happiness and prosperity, using the Seligman model PERMA and the classification of character strengths and virtues of VIA (Moore, 2021). In 2015, the authors Norrish and Seligman added the sixth element of Health: aspects of positive health education are sleep, exercise and diet (Norrish & Seligman, 2015 in Moore, 2021).

In 2004 positive education programs specify the positive character of an individual's personality by classifying 6 categories of virtues and the 24 strengths of VIA by Peterson and Seligman:

The virtue of wisdom and knowledge for the cognitive aspect: the more curious and creative, with the manifestation of critical thinking, a person becomes in the course of knowledge and learning, the more actively he will love the course of cognition, gain wisdom and open the door to a more promising and meaningful future.

The virtue of courage for the emotional aspect: the more a person shows bravery, perseverance, and diligence with an honest life credo, the more he retains his vitality and integrity for the next few days.

The virtue of humanity for a social point of view: the more love he devotes, the more love he feels, he approaches others carefully, those perhaps socially weaker, in need, he shows altruism, he pays attention to his acquaintances, friends and family, when he shows emotional and social intelligence.

The virtue of justice for the civic perspective: to be an active leader, loyal, socially responsible, fair citizen and team member in building a healthy and stable society.

The virtue of temperance for the protective aspect: to be moderate, forgiving, to forgive others, to live in humility, mercy, balance, to prudently control one's behaviour, control, instincts, and self-regulation.

The virtue of transcendence for the semantic aspect: to feel hope and to experience optimistic moments in life with a sense of humour and playfulness, to be enthusiastic about beauty and perfection in life, to show gratitude, inspiration, admiration, compassion, love to seek meaning and purpose of life, i.e. spiritual spirituality through when emotional and spiritual well-being are complemented and manifested by human prosocial behaviour (Peterson, Seligman, 2004, in Taher, 2016).

According to Linkins, an important finding in the interventions of VIA's strengths in secondary education practice is the need to develop and support these positive character traits in high-school students, because these traits are not innate. Positive education aims to reveal, concretize and develop their combination according to the abilities of the adolescent (Linkins et al., 2015, in Moore, 2021).

Happiness theory (the real happiness)

The main figure of the movement, Seligman created his first theory of true happiness (2002). He divided it into three dimensions:

positive emotions, engagement, sense of purpose.

It depends on the subjective feeling of the person and expresses authentic decisions in which he feels good and behaves in this way, even in the future, to gain as much happiness as possible. In creating the theory, Seligman also relied on the research of his fellow scientists, such as, in the first dimension, Fredrickson's (2009) scientific research into positive emotions. In the second dimension of the flow state, Seligman collaborated with psychologist Csikszentmihalyi (2015) (Seligman, 2014).

In keeping with the requirements, positive psychology interventions for youth had to make sense. For this reason, Seligman and Peterson identified strengths based on the classification of the subject from surveys of human personalities from diverse cultures. They summarized all available literature and defined a total of twenty-four strengths of human character (Peterson, Seligman, 2004, in Slezáčková, 2012, 87–91).

Taxonomy of strengths of human personality

Cognitive area - wisdom and knowledge

- 1. apply creativity;
- 2. encourage curiosity;
- 3. show critical thinking;
- 4. have active interest in learning and acquiring new knowledge and skills;
- 5. have a meaningful outlook on life.

Emotional area – courage

- 6. show bravery;
- 7. train endurance, and encourage hard work;
- 8. live honestly;
- 9. maintain vitality.

Interpersonal area – humanity

- 10. feel love;
- 11. manifest altruism:
- 12. promote social and emotional intelligence.

Civic area – justice

- 13. experience citizenship;
- 14. impartially respect justice;
- 15. show leadership.

Protection area – temperance

- 16. forgive others;
- 17. live in humility;
- 18. make prudent decisions;
- 19. manage your control and self-regulation.

Area of meaning - transcendence

- 20. see the beauty of life;
- 21. be grateful in daily life;
- 22. live in hope and optimism;
- 23. show a sense of humour:
- 24. know the spirituality, and the beliefs of the individual. (Peterson, Seligman, 2004; Slezáčková, 2012, 92–94)

The presented view of a healthy and prosperous human life leads scientists to examine and apply the findings to all areas of human life, including the education of young people, which is the most strategic area for us.

Positive Emotions Theory - Broaden-and-Build Theory

In natural life, negative emotions in human beings copy our perception of the aggravated situation that their law often requires, thus justifying their presence in life.

In her practice, positive psychologist Fredrickson applied a 3 to 1 ratio for positivity. It examined the limits of the situation when an individual or group no longer showed signs of a balanced, successful, fulfilled, and satisfying life.

The ratio ranged from 2 to 1 to 11 to 1. All the results of the study below and above showed a ratio with a great discrepancy in the emotional experience of the individual and the group. Under the ratio, she showed signs of stress, aggression, nervousness, reluctance, and discomfort. The disposition of self-reflection was lacking above the ratio. Based on the results, the author recommends practicing a 3 to 1 ratio for a successful and contented human life (Fredrickson, 2009).

She found that experiencing positive emotions such as compassion, hope, and gratitude can negate fear, anxiety, and anger and have a beneficial effect on the physical human body. The author concluded that positive people are healthier and know how to cure and manage life crises more easily. Fredrickson is also known for her Broaden-and-Build Theory of 2002, namely: the "expansion and building theory" (Fredrickson, 2001, 2009; in Slezáčková, 2012, 37).

Fredrickson (2009) affirms openness of mind and behaviour, based on a positive perception of reality, creative processing of information with the consolidation of internal resources and transformation into skills, and abilities, with the development of unique life competencies. This is reflected in the good impact of positive emotions on the physical, mental, spiritual and social areas of the individual and leads to longevity. The author of the concept presents causal connections between positive and negative feelings and the behaviour of an individual. Anger exhorts a person to attack, anger urges one to correct.

The problem only arises when negative emotions are associated with specific action tendencies such as survival mechanisms. The result of the author's research is a model that combines positive emotions into one. She found that positive emotions broaden the supply of thoughts and actions, while negative emotions narrow them. Based on the results of the research, Fredrickson determined the most satisfactory ratio between positivity and negativity in a satisfied, successful human life.

Resilience as immunity, resistance to adversity

Resilience as a topic of research concerning positive psychology is focused on its understanding as immunity, and resistance to the adversity of life, and subsequently, the results are created in specific school programs.

The proof is provided by the psychologist Philip Zimbardo, who, from the study of bad personalities and anti-social behaviour of an individual or the whole group, went on to research the conditions for building a healthy individuality with the support of resilience. His Stanford Prison Experiment is popular, in which he identifies evil emanating from the human personality,

the situation that has arisen, and the current cultural and social system (Zimbardo, 2014; in Zelina, 2018).

In contrast, in the Heroic Imagination Project, the author focuses on building a healthy personality, supports the courage of the heroes of ordinary days and draws attention to the apathy of passers-by (bystanders). With the project, the authors cultivate positive patterns in youth (Franco, Allison, Kinsella et al., 2016; Zimbardo, 2014, in Janštová, Slezáčková, 2018).

According to Slezáčková, the research of psychologists from the positive psychology movement also focused on the following aspects of young people's lives.

Table 1. An overview of theoretical and empirical works related to positive psychology

Diener, Suh, Lucas, Smith (1999)	personal satisfaction, subjective well-being, long-term happiness
Peterson (1991) Seligman (1999, 2004) Linley (2010)	examination of human optimism, hope, personality and overall happiness, moral aspect of the character
Ryan and Deci (1985, 2000)	motivation, health psychology
Frankla (1994)	highlighting human revelation to make sense
Rogersa (1995)	understanding myself
Antonovského (1984)	concept of salutogenesis
Fromma (2001)	love and personality development
Pargament (2007)	"The father of psychology built on strengths and the grandfather of positive psychology"
Seligman (2008)	the positive impact of spirituality,
Gilman et al. (2009)	positive institutions and defining the characteristics of a safe school
Ryff (1995)	Extended Model of Self-Determination Theory, 6-Factor Model of Psychological Well-being
Keyes (2002, 2009)	flourishing, that is, flowering, or optimal prosperity
Gilman, Huebner, Furlong (2009)	implementation of positive psychology into the school process
Calhoun, Tedeschi (2006), Joseph (2011)	posttraumatic personality development through the lens of positive psychology
Davidson (2011) a Fredrickson (2011)	brain activity in meditation, evidence-based method
Bormans (2016) Slezáčková (2017)	personal well-being through the intervention of the Internet and electronic media

Theoretical and empirical research of positive psychologists has created the basis for the creation of positive education programs that help students orient themselves toward their strengths of personality and their positive development. Gillham is convinced of the identification and subsequent support of adolescents' strengths, as it contributes to their well-being, increased assertiveness and resilience, as evidenced by the growing growth of adolescents' good human relationships, the search for meaning and the fulfilment of real dreams (Gillham et al., 2011; in Taher, 2016).

In general, the great efforts of the supporters of the movement for a positive perception of human life and its key impact on the prosperity of the young individual in society are evident.

2 POSITIVE EDUCATION

Paradigm of contemporary education

- A good school is not only aimed at achieving students' academic potential
 but also aims to develop students' personalities so that they become caring, responsible and ultimately productive and valid members of society
 and in life.
- Positive education focuses on issues of happiness, well-being, friendship, joy, positive thinking, cooperation, trust, optimism, humility, enthusiasm, interest, creativity, resilience, altruism, empathy, forgiveness, the meaning of life, etc.
- The educational process emphasizes the necessary education, learning, and mastery of basic knowledge and, at the same time, it is also necessary to refine the out-of-performance characteristics of students emotions, feelings, socialization, values, independence, creativity, and motivation.
- As a part of education, it is necessary to realize that it is not just about mastering the subject topic, about school performance and adherence to standards, but also about the personality of the student.
- It promotes a non-directive teaching style and, at the same time, calls for flexibility in the applied styles.
- It supports students' independence, and their communication, which is related to the style of the teacher's work.

Positive education is based on the theories and research of experts in the positive psychology movement, which they gradually implemented into educational practice. Even though positive psychology is a young science, its scientific approach to analysis and its conclusions meet the requirements of current student education.

Within the teaching activity, teachers are often focused primarily on conveying the largest possible content of the curriculum, its verification and evaluation of mastery. They create less space to support and develop the emotions that will accompany students throughout their lives and with which they must learn to work. One of the reasons why teachers pay minimal or no attention to emotions in teaching is their unpreparedness, resp. the inability to design the teaching unit so that the teacher can work with students' emotions, the emotions of the classroom as a collective and also the social dimension of the classroom environment. The aim of education, based on the philosophical

knowledge of man, continued to focus mainly on the cognitive side and its knowledge performance, or will, characterized by human actions. According to the pedagogical anthropologist Malík (2013), it focused primarily on the intellectual side, i.e. permanent knowledge, and secondarily on the emotional area, i.e. temporary knowledge.

According to Malík, the opinion rehabilitation of the area of emotional experience in the educational process took place quite late, he points out the verdict of the current sciences about man, in which man is no longer primarily a thinking being, but an emotional being who is capable of thinking precisely because he has feelings. Emotions and emotional states stimulate thinking and acting in the real world. According to the author, emotions are awakened from apathy, they stimulate activity and subsequently encourage a feeling to the world that opens up to the student, who, in turn, makes himself available to knowledge itself (Malík, 2013).

Positive education focuses on issues of happiness, well-being, friendship, joy, positive thinking, cooperation, trust, optimism, humility, enthusiasm, interest, creativity, resilience, altruism, empathy, forgiveness, the meaning of life, etc.

These concepts are only very marginally included in the current educational process in the daily educational activities of the teacher and the student's learning activities. Positive education has its potential, the main idea of which is the well-being of pupils and students, which supports their education and develops them to be good people and citizens. A good school is not only aimed at achieving students' academic potential but also aims to develop students' personalities so that they become caring, responsible and ultimately productive and valid members of society and in life.

In the context of positive psychology, positive education can be defined as education for traditional life skills and education for a happy person. Positive education is based on the best teaching strategies to help students achieve the best educational outcomes, paired with aspects of positive psychology that promote student safety and well-being.

Positive psychological interventions include decision-making, problem-solving skills, relaxation, and creative brainstorming. Using this knowledge in positive education improves mental health and well-being, reduces depression and anxiety, and improves academic success and creative thinking, eliminating student stress. The contribution of positive psychology to pedagogical activities is mainly in approaches and strategies that appreciate humanistic teaching.

Application of positive psychology in educational practice

Zelina (2018) looks at the application of positive psychology in pedagogical practice by meeting the needs of students. He states that the application of the elements and effects of positive psychology in pedagogical practice shows that:

- self-discipline, and intrinsic motivation, which is emphasized in particular by positive psychology, is twice as good a predictor of performance, application and success in life as IQ and EQ,
- happy young people in adolescence, as shown by longitudinal research, have higher incomes in adulthood,
- the commitment and meaningfulness of the activities accepted by positive psychology are the best prevention against depression,
- positive experience and meaningfulness of support life satisfaction and have a positive effect on the learning process, especially on creative learning.

According to positive psychology, the educational process must respect the principles that have a positive effect on the educational reality and transform them into everyday life. The basic didactic principle is the connection of theory with practice, and therefore we draw attention to the principles of positive education, which can be transformed into the daily life of the pupil, student and person.

2.1 Principles of positive education

From the didactic point of view, the principles of education are defined as certain requirements, principles that the teacher must respect and accept in his work on students. Zelina (2016) defines the principles of positive education, which reflect the theoretical basis of positive psychology:

- ensuring a positive school climate and school culture (positive family climate, living climate),
- · respecting positive values,
- positive application of knowledge in life with an emphasis on quality education,
- application of strategies supporting critical, evaluative thinking and selfevaluation,
- creation of productive interactions, teacher—student relationships based on empathy, acceptance of each individual,
- motivate learning in addition to classical methods also through interesting tasks, the method of relational frameworks and causal attributes,

- emphasize self-reflection, self-evaluation, self-control, pupil self-equipment with the use of self-regulatory learning programs, self-knowledge programs, socio-psychological programs, character cultivation programs
- emotionally experience the climate in the classroom, at school, find out and change it positively, evaluate students' learning and educational activities, teach students to express emotions, feelings and control them, especially in stressful situations, communicate openly, creatively and focus on rational communication, but also to communicate feelings, emotions and experiences.

The science and research in positive psychology on which positive education is based clearly show that identifying human strengths and focusing on developing the ability to cultivate and exploit these strengths (rather than "correcting" mistakes) lead to greater well-being and better academicism and social outcomes. A positive approach to education helps students to build confidence in education, in developing students' intellectual abilities and character, and in developing the affective side of their personalities. Investing in positive education at the level of the whole school community in both school and out-of-school environments results in helping the student to become a better version of himself or herself as an individual and as part of a community. The analysis of the scientific literature suggests that positive psychological interventions support pupils and students in an intense relationship with the school or school facility. In order that the application of elements of positive psychology in educational practice may be accessible and practically feasible, the school management must at a broader level, resp. to adopt and develop the theory of positive education in the wider school context. When applying the given elements to the educational process, the school principal may first start – in cooperation with pedagogical and professional staff – with the introduction of positive psychology into school (Gajdošová and Bisaki, 2015). The building of the so-called positive model of the school supporting the strengths and potentials of individuals also initiates a significant change in school psychology and the work of the school psychologist, especially the reorientation from addressing negative phenomena in schools to developing the best qualities of the school as an institution and people there.

The application of positive psychology at school is a new view of education, of oneself, of the world and of oneself in it. In line with the aim of education for the future, it is necessary for the person of the future to be not only efficient but also happy.

Positive education must focus on preparing a person who is flexible, able to reflect on new stimuli and challenges, ready to resolve conflicts, fluent in foreign languages and ready to live outside his local area.

Positive education has a positive effect on many determinants and factors of the educational process.

2.2 Positive education and school success

Positive education increases students' school success and increases the quality of life of students in the school environment and beyond. Based on findings from research in Slovakia in 2005/2006, 2009/2010 and 2013/2014, the authors Čerešník and Čerešníková (2018, 197–199) state that fifteen-year-old students stop liking school.

Despite the positive subjective feeling with good results, they do not perceive their study performance positively. They suffer from congestion, but feel much more social support and empathy with their classmates. The authors found above-average, even dangerous use of technological equipment by students who do not like school. They recommend strengthening the social dimension of education at school.

Zimbardo and Coulombová also share this opinion, pointing out the interdependence between unfulfilled real relationships, which include the relationship to school, and the refuge in technological substitutes of relationships (Zimbardo, Coulombová, 2017).

The findings show that students lose their social skills and their socioemotional health is also affected by depression, chaos and boredom. To confirm the findings, Seligman gives a comparison with the situation 50 years earlier. That time, depression began to manifest around the age of 30, and according to extensive research, it now affects those around the age of fifteen (Seligman, 2014).

In the school year 2015/2016, Radnóti conducted research in Slovakia to find out the current state of the social and emotional health of students in secondary schools in connection with depression. In it, the counsellors stated that the more depressed the students are, the lower their mental health, self-confidence, trust in the family, school, peers, commitment, optimism, and gratitude are. Surprisingly, the author states that depression does not affect empathy and self-control in high-school students (Radnóti, 2018).

And these types of findings lead psychologists to recommend the use of the principles of positive psychology as a science in students' lives. After all, it meets all the requirements to become known to people worldwide, and it has become a paradigm of current education.

According to Vavříková (2017), a paradigm is a certain pattern or model of thinking. Positive education represents an attitude towards education that combines school learning, i.e. acquired intellectual knowledge and skills, with

education for a strong character and life satisfaction. In education, the educational aim is equally strategic.

Through their mutual harmonization, they will create the basis for the most favourable development of man and the whole community (Seligman, 2017; in Janštová, Slezáčková, 2018).

2.3 Positive education and undesirable behaviours

The positive approach to education reflects the growing trend of bullying, aggression, various addictions, depression and mental problems among students and adolescents. The results of the findings of the State School Inspectorate in the report on the state and level of education in schools and school facilities in the Slovak Republic in the school year 2019/2020 showed that

[m]any of them did not feel safe in the school and classroom community. Bullied students and those who witnessed bullying did not seek protection and help from an educational counsellor or prevention coordinator. The schools did not sufficiently create an environment for the pupils in which they would feel confident and supported by the teachers and the class team, they did not have a fully created space for expression and discussion. Many were hampered by teachers' lack of interest in their hobbies and leisure activities, as well as the behaviour of some teachers. They did not always perceive them as fair. (Štofková, Dianovská et al., 2020, 8)

The findings of the State School Inspectorate prove that bullying is widespread in Slovak schools, which affects the quality of teaching, pupils "learning", and pupils' activities. Through a distributed questionnaire completed by 383 grammar school students and 372 high-school students. The results show that every 13th high-school student was bullied, 21% of grammar school students and 27% of high-school students experienced bullying several times. 35% of grammar school students and 30% of high-school students would not have the courage to help bullied classmates against the aggressor (Štofková, Dianovká et al., 2020).

There are cases of anxiety, stress, and general discomfort in the students, which subsequently manifest themselves in the learning process through inattention, reduced motivation and worsened educational results. In addition to the worsened educational results, there are also educational difficulties — truancy, psychosomatic disorders, depression, etc. Depressed adolescents are less socially skilled, have no friends, feel repulsed and have many problems compared to healthy individuals of their age. Depression impairs memory and concentration in learning, entailing a deterioration in school performance. They are disgusted, and without energy and nothing brings them joy and enthusiasm,

2 Positive education

they do not experience a state of flow when they are learning, which signals that depression persists and will lag in school. They will start looking for substitutes in the form of alcohol and drug use, which is just a step towards violence and exclusion from schools.

Goleman (2017, 301–326) sees the only solution to the problem in prevention in schools during the education of teenagers, i.e. in building social–emotional competencies. Emotional skills include self-awareness, expression and control of emotions, impulses, satisfaction for later and the ability to cope with stress and anxiety. Social skills include distinguishing social signals, the art of listening and resisting negative influences, understanding the other person's position, and distinguishing what behaviour certain life situations require.

Eliminating inappropriate, unacceptable and even pathological behaviour at school requires a differentiated and comprehensive approach with the active cooperation of school management, teachers, students, parents, school teachers, psychologists, and trained school professionals in the form of group work and prevention programs. (Rosová, 2018).

Due to the unfavourable socio-mental development of young people around the world, Seligman (2012) incorporated positive psychology into educational projects as a way to prevent and reduce the depressive states of the young generation.

2.4 Intervention programs in the school environment

Applying the elements of positive psychology to the pedagogical reality requires knowledge of the theoretical basis, and the philosophy of the elements processed in the following programs.

According to Seligman, the first intervention programs in the school environment were:

Pennsylvania program (Penn Resiliency Program) promotes psychological resilience with the main aim: to make adolescents to be able to solve everyday problems during their adolescence. The program involved more than three thousand students and adults under the age of twenty-two. The subject of positive education is the promotion of optimism, assertiveness, creativity, determination, and it is more realistic and flexible problem-solving than depression prevention. The program leaders were trained educators, psychologists, counsellors, sociologists, military officers, and college students. During the interventions, the incidence of depression, anxiety and problematic behaviour

of adolescents decreased, and the positive school climate was supported (Seligman, 2012, 81–83).

It was a more complex Program of teaching the subject of positive psychology at the Strath Haven school (Strath Haven Positive Psychology Curriculum), in which they identified and built and supported strengths of character, relationships, meaningfulness and the promotion of positive emotions. They used a classification from Peterson and Seligman (2004). They had lessons in positive psychology in their style and literature lessons. Right at the beginning and end, students filled out a standardized questionnaire. Adolescents took part in group activities and were given practical homework assignments: for example, they had to write down good things that happened to them during the day and their feelings about them. In another exercise, they discussed the strengths of the main characters and their characteristics. Subsequently, friends, classmates and yourself. The program improved empathy, cooperation, assertiveness, self-control, and resilience, which transformed into a friendlier and safer school climate (Seligman, 2012, 83–85).

Geelong Grammar School in Australia is often mentioned as a model of positive education because they have applied positive education throughout the school. Positive education was taught based on 5 elements of Seligman's PERMA program. They always filled in the VIA questionnaire, and then compiled a family tree of the family's strengths according to their strengths. They then wrote a letter to their parents. They wrote a diary of good things. During the marathon in the mountains, they trained in psychological resilience. They incorporated positive psychology as a separate subject in the school curriculum. These interventions focused on the teacher–student relationship, in which the teachers improved themselves in giving feedback and specifically praising the students' efforts and contributed to a comfortable and safe climate in the classroom and school. And, of course, nobody in positive education has forgotten to use the learned experience in everyday life (Seligman, 2012, 2014, 85–93).

In 2014 was established a research and educational institute of positive education called The Institute of Positive Education. The most important task of this institute is to spread positive well-being to all schools in the world. Subsequently, Noble & McGrath (2015) developed the **PROSPER program** copying Seligman's PERMA model and tested it at the Australian Catholic University (Janštová, Slezáčková, 2018, 14–15). According to Slezáčková (2012), what became very important was the **British Celebrating Strengths Program** by Fox Eades (2008) and the Spanish program from Zaragoza, Aulas Felices by Rey et al. (2010).

According to Slezáčková, the results of research and theories of positive psychology are taught at many universities. The first course was opened in 1999 by

2 Positive education

Seligman at the University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia and others at universities in the United States, Canada, Asia, Latin America, Australia and of course in Europe: Great Britain, Germany, Spain, Croatia, Italy (Slezáčková, 2012). Several graduates of Seligman's programs are members of associations of scientists who are actively interested in the implementation of positive education programs, such as:

IPEN (International Positive Education Network), is an international association of positive education that brings together teachers, students, parents, schools, the society and governments to support the application of positive education and modify educational practices and reshape government policy (Seligman, 2017).

PESA (Positive Education Schools Association), aims to facilitate cooperation between students—teachers—professionals to support the personal satisfaction of the young generation (Janštová, Slezáčková, 2018).

Furlong transformed the theoretical starting points of psychologists, which emphasize the positive effects on the development of the psychological field of adolescents, into direct pedagogical practice (2014, 2015). He designed and implemented them in the SEHS (Social Emotional Health Survey) psychometric tool, which is used for research in more than 20 countries. The Social–Emotional Health Survey for Secondary Schools is a multidimensional construct consisting of the following domains:

- self-belief the indicator is self-confidence, self-efficacy and tenacity,
- faith in others the indicator is the support of the school, the integrity
 of the family and the support of peers,
- emotional intelligence the adaptation of emotions, empathy, resilience and self-control,
- commitment during life optimism, enthusiasm, gratefulness.

It offers opportunities for creating the most favourite personality of students and teachers and provides a diagnostic view of their mental health and socioemotional competencies. Through screening methods, the sources of positive survival are determined and more optimal interventions for the pupil and the school are determined, when the school is monitored in the form of comparison over several years and, based on the results, support conditions for the positive development of the students' and teachers' health in a good and healthy institution (Furlong, et al., 2014, 248–252, in Gajdošová, 2018).

In the conditions of the Slovak Republic, several studies on the social and emotional health of pupils in schools were carried out in the years 2017 and 2018. Radnóti organized one of the research projects in Slovakia, in which the

best results were achieved by high-school students in life commitment and the worst in self-confidence. According to Radnóti, this fact is caused by the search for his own identity and distrust in his ability, but the author also mentions the possibility of poor communication in schools, when there is no discussion with the opportunity to express themselves openly on possible problems. Following orders, the students lost the opportunity to make their own decisions. Radnóti expects to find the weak use of positive evaluation when students stopped experiencing success in school and beyond (Radnóti, 2017, in Gajdošová, 2018). Research conducted by Bittner showed that high-school students who achieved higher social and emotional health outcomes showed low levels of depression, bad mood, interpersonal suffering, and inefficiency, but more joy and self-confidence (Bittner, 2018; in Gajdošová, 2018).

The positive impact of the programs was characterized by Seligman (2014) as a reduction of anxiety, depression, helplessness, problem behaviour, improvement of physical health, relaxation, love of learning, creativity, curiosity, empathy, cooperation, assertiveness, self-esteem, self-control, and resilience.

The main elements of the studies are the strengths of the positive development of the adolescent and its impact on his socio-emotional health and empathy, and the young person shows positive emotions multiplied by prosocial behaviour and positive self-esteem, which brings a comfortable climate in joint activities for adolescents, thus improving social relations and learning outcomes. Over the years, the screening method will determine the development of quality indicators of school health of students and teachers in a good school (Furlong, et al., 2014, Furlong, 2015; in Petrulyté, Rimiené, Guogiené, 2019).

Research findings have revealed that the model of socio-emotional health and strengths coincides with a high level of mental health, resilience and well-being. In Slovakia, they use the SEHS-S model in the research at Radnóti and Holbling secondary schools. In 2019-2020, they found a lower average overall level of social—emotional health, a high level of confidence and a medium level of engagement and self-confidence, but a strong relationship between the individual dimensions of the SEHS-S model and the well-being of high-school students — grammar school in Modra (Radnóti, Holbling, 2022) was confirmed.

According to Larson, the dominant aim of youth development during education is to arouse the interest of adolescents in developing the complex abilities and skills needed to take responsibility for their lives (Larson, 2000; in Moore, 2021).

In the conditions of the Slovak Republic, we find the application of elements of positive psychology in several programs such as:

2 Positive education

Healthy school or programs to promote tolerance and reduce violence in and out of schools, develop emotional literacy, prosocial behaviour, the creativity of students and teachers and, of course, prevention programs like *The way to emotional maturity, Say it clearly, Do not destroy your wise body, How do I know myself?* and others (Ďuríková, 2016).

Happiness lesson (http://hodinastastia.sk/happy-school-qualification/), Eco-school (https://ekoskola.cz/cz),

Green School (http://www.zelenaskola.sk/) and others.

In the Czech Republic, according to Janštová and Slezáčková, the mental state of pupils in jobs is respected (e.g. Man, Mareš, 2005; Novotný, Křeménková, 2016; and others). They use the application of elements of positive education in the field of alternative forms of education, without programs and without changing the curriculum (Janštová, Slezáčková, 2018).

The application of positive education in real pedagogical practice requires an optimistic climate, and an optimistic view of the world and the life of the next generation, which requires the development of their competencies from the point of view of lifelong learning. Implementing a positive approach in the educational process requires ensuring an optimal, positive school environment. Schools as a space, as institutions with their internal processes, not only materially but also socio-emotionally.

3 SCHOOL - A POSITIVE INSTITUTION

- The school must be an institution that supports a healthy lifestyle and the development of the physical and mental health of students.
- A positive school climate is a condition of education that is motivating for students, activates students and staff, eliminates barriers to learning, creates optimal conditions for the learning process, supporting class cohesion and the functioning of the whole school.
- The school must be a place of satisfaction, well-being, security, freedom, support, authenticity, empathy, and meaningfulness, where students can express emotions, interests, arguments, values, creativity, and responsibility.
- Emotional and social security at school includes relationships the courage to communicate openly, the interest in cooperating in a group, publicly evaluating, accepting criticism, being able to argue, etc., without the risk of social or emotional threat.
- The school as a space for compliance requires the establishment of order in any situation and any environment requires clear and comprehensible standards, regulations and rules, not excluding the school and classroom environment.

A positive perception of the school as an institution is a necessary prerequisite for the effective work of teachers concerning students, parents, and school management staff and the creation of the school's image towards society and the public. The processes within the institution are made up of many factors, which by their nature determine their character. The school is an environment created by the members of a living community, which is used for education and for sharing values, skills, beliefs, and attitudes. An environment in which education to values takes place, i.e. which creates space for free expression, presentation of personal ideas and opinions, respect for standards, and internalization of values, but not without firm rules. A school with the above characteristics allows the school management, teachers, students, school staff, and parents to feel the fulfilment, the meaning of activities, achieving results, which will affect their experience and life with all its quality, vitality, and the joy of activities that they will transfer to their world. The school environment, which is a specific environment by its nature, affects all teacher and student activities. It includes material and technical support, relations at several levels, didacticmethodical work of the teacher, activity and participation of students, etc.

According to Seligman (2014), it follows that personal satisfaction and good mood suppress the anxious states of adolescents at school and support better learning, which is the aim of the educational process.

According to Barrett (2010), by applying positive principles in an educational institution such as a school, we are sure to elevate the school community from the lower levels of consciousness. The first three are levels of needs and interests, the fourth level is where personal needs and interests move towards the needs and interests of other people, while the next three levels symbolize the recognized values of the consciousness of the people based on which they live, make decisions and act at the higher levels of consciousness.

Barrett identified with the seven levels of organizational consciousness of a viable human community, whereby limiting any form of consciousness of a given group of people leads to the inevitable disintegration. The author was inspired by Maslow's humanistic hierarchy of needs:

- 1. to identify and ensure their living needs;
- 2. to form satisfactory and orderly relations;
- 3. to be able to keep what they have created to be productive;
- 4. to exceed their horizons through innovative research;
- 5. to create a common culture, i.e. free value engagement in a collective space;
- 6. they benefit others because they are not alone, striving to create fair and mutually beneficial partnerships to achieve aims that go beyond their circumstances;
- 7. they fundamentally benefit the whole, i.e. they perceive the global good. (Barrett, 2010; in Baranyai, 2016)

By applying the levels of organizational consciousness of a viable school, all actors in the school world will gain a higher quality of life, leading to the characteristics of a quality school with a culture that supports the well-being of individuals and not only knowledge performance at the expense of independence, without a human perspective. If we want to implement and apply elements of positive psychology in everyday educational practice within the school, it is necessary to focus on a positive school and classroom climate, a positive school culture as an institution, a safe school environment at the social but also emotional level, strategies and didactic practices that support education as a positive influence on the pupils' teacher.

Ensuring the given conditions affects:

- pupils' attendance at school,
- · pupils' attention,

- creative and critical thinking,
- motivation to learn,
- active participation in teaching,
- the holistic aspect of thinking, etc.

Based on intervention programs for effective education in the United States, Peterson (2006) specified a positive good school:

- students understand the importance of subjects,
- schoolchildren are convinced that they are co-authors of school life,
- students perceive the atmosphere as principled but clear, objective,
- teachers focus on identifying, developing and strengthening students' abilities and skills, without constant criticism and reprimand,
- beneficial, decent, positive behaviours are highly valued and supported,
- the school has effective management and leadership of people,
- interactions between teachers and students are natural, sincere and governed by solidarity.

(Peterson, 2006; in Slezáčková, 2012).

3.1 Positive school and classroom climate

School and classroom climate affects all parts of the educational process. Pupils' behaviour, cognitive performance, the level of relationships at several levels, the ability to experience and verbalize their feelings, etc. Classroom and school relationships make up a significant part of the climate. School interactions are the result of teacher—student interaction, student—student interaction, and vice versa. Creating a socio-emotional climate requires the active participation of all actors in school and class life. If the social and emotional climate is to support the development of relationships, it is essential to ensure equal treatment of emotions for each student and to exclude evaluation approaches, based on which the student could receive a negative evaluation from classmates and teachers.

The school climate is part of the overall view of the school, whether we look in terms of quality or culture. The climate is characteristic of the secondary school, it is unique and authentic and we meet it immediately after entering the school premises, or in every single class, or practical vocational training of the secondary school and, last but not least, in the school canteen. Ensuring conditions for the student and teacher is based on ensuring a positive school and classroom climate.

School and classroom climate research confirm the existence of a positive correlation between a better positive school climate and improving learning outcomes and student achievement (Jones et al. 2004).

Factors of positive climate are the subject of research:

- system,
- · security,
- · disciplines,
- relationships between teachers and students,
- · fairness and clarity of rules at school

(Fan, Williams, Corkin 2011, Syvertsen, Flanagan, Stout (2009).

It is necessary to look at the classroom climate from two perspectives: The climate should motivate and involve pupils and staff in the teaching, as well as seek to remove barriers to learning, thus creating the right conditions for pupils' learning, class cohesion and the functioning of the whole school.

Kantorová (2015) states that learning support is an important strategy that enables all students to achieve physical, social, emotional, and intellectual development in school. A positive school climate helps to meet students' developmental learning needs. In a supportive, safe, caring, participatory positive climate, students felt safe, they felt that they were taken care of and that they were appropriately supported in the learning process, This developed links: the sense of belonging at school negatively correlated with loneliness, fears, social isolation, and anti-social behaviour, while there was a positive correlation in terms of happiness, social support, conflict resolution skills and social competencies, learning performance, and school and classroom safety. Belonging together is more about happiness, higher social skills, internal motivation, self-esteem, interest in educational activities, and respect for democratic norms and values. The school climate and classroom climate are negatively affected by stress, fear, conflicts, exaggerated demands of teachers, parents, students, spatial and material, technical shortcomings of the school, mistrust, and overcrowded curriculum. According to Petlák (2020), it is necessary to include the creation of a favourable climate for classroom learning during the education of the strategy.

Good conditions in the classroom have an impact and also affect the student's self-evaluation. With the right guidance from teachers, the student perceives *his position* in the classroom, which leads him to take responsibility for himself, and for his actions. The teacher must pay close attention to the climate, because otherwise there may be undesirable behaviours, and a reduction in the quality of the relationship between students, between students and teachers.

For every student to be respected, it is necessary to pay attention to the positive support of the team. Student evaluation of school environment, activities, and relationships has a cognitive and emotional aspect. The same environment or situations that individual experiences may be interpreted differently. An anxious individual may react sensitively and perceive environmental reactions as a failure. The intensity of the experience in a calm and resilient individual does not have to be strong. Each adolescent thus chooses a subjective psychological environment from the objective environment and this psychological environment subsequently shapes the development of his personality. Perception of one's behaviour and experience and social comparison leads to self-esteem. The basis of overall positive self-esteem is the recognition of self-worth, which depends in part on the extent to which the adolescent considers himself or herself to be true or authentic (Macek, 2003, 51–52).

Kantorová in her study deals with the evaluation and assessment of the school climate and states that the perception and evaluation of a particular school environment in adolescents are influenced by radicalism and uncompromisingness, which can simplify and generalize the facts but are associated with a relatively strong emotional burden.

The school and classroom climate with an emphasis on its positive character includes teacher competencies, school management, school order, organization and clarity of rules, satisfaction with the education department, class cohesion, material aspects and the school's offer. Individual didactic determinants influence the psychosocial condition of education, which is the climate.

We can arouse the interest of the actors of school life by applying the topics of positive education, and thus build a ubiquitous positive climate in school and the classroom. It is this key aspect of searching and explaining, connected with evoked emotions in education, that Špajdel and Jurásová perceive as the doctrine of cognitive evaluation.

Continuity to education is observed in the evaluation of the subject about the pragmatic situation, its proximity in the psychological field, unexpectedness and the degree of arousal before the real situation. Cognitive evaluation in the educational process has an impact on the strength, dynamics and quality of emotions (Špajdel, Jurásová, 2012; in Petlák, 2018).

Pupils as well as teachers and parents have demands for a positive classroom climate. Each of them contributes their share to the positive classroom climate, but the teacher and students directly create it.

Petlák proposes a procedure that leads to the consolidation of a positive classroom climate:

- Say and determine reasonable demands on students' behaviour, the most important limits of behaviour for the education of students, get acquainted with students, e.g. in the form of cards on the notice board.
- The whole pedagogical team respects the demands, uniformly. Inconsistency causes outrage and lability in students.
- Claims are submitted pleasantly, but clearly and concisely.
- Get to know students' opinions. Focus on areas of motivation, classroom work, teaching, activities and more.
- The teacher should be a good example for students. Teachers follow the behaviour they require from students.

During the creation of a positive climate, it is impossible to forget about the demands of parents, because they rightly expect the school to create a climate in which their child will feel safe and which will encourage him to learn (Petlák, 2006, 69–70).

The main indicator of a positive school climate is the subjective mental well-being of the actors of secondary education in a supportive and constructive environment of secondary schools. Well-being, according to Seligman (2012), is when all actors in high-school education feel good and, according to Felcmanová, they also work comfortably at school. The author also added a definition according to the Partnership for Education 2030+ program, in which they defined a state of well-being for the Czech educational environment, i.e. teachers, students and the general public: "Wellbeing is when I am excited that morning is here..." (Felcmanová, 2021, 1).

In schools, Felcmanová (2021) recommends targeted measures for the prosperity of a positive climate in both the teaching staff and high-school classes. Feelings of fear, anxiety associated with education and non-acceptance in the school group of adolescents will only have a negative effect on learning, the results of students and their overall individual satisfaction with life.

According to Felcmanová, school teaching is at risk because one in five educators suffers from burnout and consequently the quality of education decreases, which does not meet the needs of students and, of course, the needs of teachers. In line with the Partnership for Education 2030+ program, the author recommends supporting well-being in education nationwide and determined five areas for the development of quality and satisfied living:

- 1. Physical promotes safe healthy vitality, strength and energy, overall physical health in the form of a healthy lifestyle, quality sleeping, physical activity and favours a prosperous lifestyle in a healthy environment.
- 2. Cognitive supports cognition, analysis of information, formation of opinions in the form of critical thinking, problem-solving system or creativity. It reflects its potential in motivation and aspirations.

- 3. Emotional supports the ability of self-knowledge, self-regulation in identifying and classifying emotions, feelings of confidence in themselves and others, and the resilience of coping with stressful life situations.
- 4. Social supports communication and development, maintaining positive interpersonal relationships, with empathy in social cooperation.
- 5. Spiritual supports ethical values and meaning, the mission of being an individual. (Felcmanová, 2021)

In Slovakia, as we understand the concept of well-being in secondary education is similar to that in the Czech Republic. According to the State School Inspectorate and Štofková Dianovská, the well-being and educational results of high-school students are connected "vessels", because how students feel at school, is how they will learn.

After all, they note the state of safety of the school climate and relations between the actors of education as one of the main indicators of well-being. Safety from the point of view of bullying was considered in all schools and in the whole school community. The most dangerous place was the classroom during the break, under the constant supervision of the faculty, or in the corridors of high schools with audio-visual equipment installed, where the most significant number of high-school students move. According to the findings of the State School Commission, the well-being of adolescents was weakened mainly by the attitude of certain teachers: dishonest interaction, mutual listening, or in the form of ridicule, humiliation, swearing, mental coercion or inadequate demands on teenagers. High-school students feel distrust in pedagogical and professional staff in helping to solve educational or especially personality problems. Distrust stems from injustice in identifying violators of the discipline or certain inappropriate behaviour of an individual. As many as 30% of grammar school students and 21% of high-school students think that teachers did not show tolerance at the time of their education and did not understand, which resulted in a small elimination of fairly resolved inappropriate behaviour. Almost a fifth of school board members are not convinced that teachers provide protection and support when pupils are harassed due to their race, religion, social background or opinion. High-school students are interested in their schools, they want to communicate about the problems. They feel very little informed about school life, they try to participate in decisionmaking, together with their high-school teachers. Many high-school students see a great lack of interest on the part of teachers in their hobbies and extracurricular activities during their free time.

According to Štofková Dianovská, the findings in the report have shown that it is necessary to pay due attention to the well-being of teachers and subsequently apply the experience to the educational process of secondary school youth in Slovakia. They recommend applying elements such as empathy,

identification of strengths of personality and character of a high-school student, encouraging self-regulatory learning of students, using methods and forms of activating teaching with creative potential, applying pedagogical-didactic interventions to support a favourable learning climate with a sense of security and safety, use of innovative methods in education, to provide students with participation in school decision-making processes in the form of a student school board (Štofková Dianovská, 2020, 101–131, 242–243).

Baranyai is following the development of an unfavourable school climate. As part of research investigations carried out with a research sample of 1,000 teachers and 10,000 pupils with parents, he diagnosed the school environment. The author states that the vast majority of Slovak schools work in "administrative" mental settings. He sees a big shortcoming in the lack of enthusiastic school staff, with creative visions or surplus values that they would achieve together. High-school students observe the day-to-day frustrations of highschool teaching staff. He finds it negative that school staff are not interested in making a change and that adolescents want to leave high school. They do not see the meaning of education in such a high-school culture and do not feel good in the set secondary school climate, because it lacks the joy of meaningful efforts and interest in the participation of the local community. The author sees the frustration of teachers in fulfilling their pedagogical-didactic duties: how and what to teach when in class, what to try or not to try, what to do when someone causes problems, how to reach adherence to discipline, what to do with incompetent parents, how to manage them. The result was overloaded high-school students with bored expressions on their faces.

Baranyai talks about the lack of respected male role models in the teaching staff. The school, without its world and optimistic climate in it, virtually kills young adolescents (Baranyai, 2016).

There is an opportunity to improve the secondary school climate with indicators of a positive school climate. Positive education offers many practices that can help change the structure of schools and their high-school students for the better.

According to Škamrlík (2017), a school is a place of intensive social learning and the school climate characterizes the overall quality of interpersonal relationships and social events in the school. He points out that a positive school climate has an impact on the social behaviour of high-school students and their motivation, learning and, of course, results.

Based on the analysis, the researchers developed a positive school climate. Blaštíková processed five areas and their dimensions for a positive school climate according to the National School Climate Center (2017):

Safety – standards and rules, protection against physical, mental, and verbal violence, and social–emotional security.

Teaching and learning – supportive teaching methods for learning, social and civic, and ethical learning.

Interpersonal relationships – respect and esteem for individual peculiarities, gender, race, and culture, showing social support and help or commitment to high-school students from teachers and classmates.

Institutional environment – good identification with the school, cleanliness, order, and necessary material security.

Staff – strong, professional, democratic management of the school with the vision and direction of the secondary school. Positive, helpful relationships, belonging and social support in the workplace in the teaching staff, student class, school management, the process of motivation and improvement of their work, and the competence of teachers.

(Blaštíková, 2018).

Grecmanová observes the positive and supportive, i.e. welcoming climate of the school, as a certain ideal of the secondary school of the future, when society expects students to be ready to enter employment, or they have their own and responsible approach in public life, social commitment, personal and professional mobility, and work virtues (Grecmanová, 2003; in Čapek, 2010).

Applying the topics of positive education has an optimistic impact on life in the world of high school. According to the above findings of scientists and experts, a quality personality of the teacher, his professional style, professional skills, individual competence or mastery plays a huge role, and meaningfully, actively creates a positive high-school and classroom climate.

The classroom climate, with its specifics as a subset of the school climate, represents from a theoretical and research point of view a whole complex of problems that need to be pointed out in connection with the emotional climate:

The number and diversity of events and tasks within the school classroom (the classroom is characterized as a place where a large number of actors with different goals and abilities meet).

In fact, *more and more things happen in the classroom*, regardless of the methods used. The teacher must monitor the behaviour of specific students and the whole class, respond to them and prepare the next step.

It is practically impossible to assume what is going on in the classroom. Various interruptions, interruptions of the planned strategy, are very common, and it is often very difficult to predict how a particular individual or group of students will react.

The class, which meets five days a week for several years, develops its own set of "social" experiences, practices and standards of behaviour (not just in relation to school reality).

In the context of a positive environment and atmosphere in high school, Zelina thinks about what atmosphere is better for the student: when he feels good and looks forward to school, he can express himself, express his opinion and classmates, teachers like him, they care about his prosperity, they solve problems together, he does not have to be afraid of mistakes, he can judge himself and the world around him, he can create and he does not forget humour, because everything he learns makes sense for his life.

Or: when he is sick, uncomfortable, in danger, bullied, tired, unrecognized, frustrated, unable to express his opinion, nobody likes him, and the teacher ignores him, unjustly qualifies and underestimates him, he stops looking forward to school, he is not interested in the curriculum, he does not enjoy it, he does not see in it a sense for his progress in life (Zelina, 2016).

The role of the school in creating an educational space sounds unambiguous, the secondary school must be a world of satisfaction, well-being, safety, freedom, support, authenticity, empathy, and meaningfulness, where emotions, interests, arguments, values, creativity, responsibility and self-knowledge metacognitions can be triggered, along with self-evaluation, self-discipline and self-regulation in terms of the holistic development of the high-school student's personality in the safety of the positive educational climate of the school and classroom (Hanuliaková, 2016).

Pupils' satisfaction with their school is a sign of a quality school (Lynch, 2012; in Liška, 2021). Bilčík and Balážová list the main areas of quality of secondary school: coherence in strategic planning, school educational program and school vision, motivated employees and their prosperity, financial and material resources of secondary school, school management style, level of didactic education, the climate of quality secondary school, cooperation with external partners, knowledge results of graduates and their application in the labour market, external evaluation of secondary school (Bilčík, Balážová, 2021, 111–112).

Čapek defined the concept of secondary school culture as a technical—organizational area of the secondary school world and the school climate as a social area of the secondary school world (Čapek, 2010). The essentialization of the school world should be its humanization. Zelina presents three main sources of high-school humanization:

- 1. *Motivation* the basis of constant self-development and self-creation of individuality.
- 2. *Creativity* divergent tasks, development of independence and independence.
- 3. *Emotion* well-elevated values of the relationship to oneself, others, work and the world. (Zelina, 2021)

If we want to implement elements of positive education in the school, it is important to create and maintain a positive and safe climate in the school. The school's positive approach to safety provides opportunities, according to Kardos, to develop pupils' resilience. The school can give the student success and self-confidence, the feeling that he belongs somewhere, encourages determination, perseverance, a responsible approach to himself, to his authenticity, and a responsible approach builds a healthy resilience — a firm belief in a happy and meaningful life (Kardos, 2007; in Hanuliaková et al., 2016).

3.2 SCHOOL AS A SAFE SPACE

The results of the educational activity of the teacher and the pupil in the school environment are perceived primarily in the form of student marks, achievements, achieved goals, methods of evaluation, behavioural manifestations, manifestations of socio-pathological phenomena, etc. Pupils' educational levels can be easily measured by various evaluation tests, exams, or projects. Pupils' educational expressions come to the fore especially when there is an inappropriate expression.

Many people who excel in their intelligence in their personal lives fail, feel lonely, abandoned, and unable to make contacts. They fail in feelings, in understanding, manifestation, verbalization and experience. In a given situation, the school has an irreplaceable place as an educational institution that builds on the educational activities of the family. Emotional education must be an important part of every subject. Space for its anchoring in the educational process can be created in several areas: breaks between lessons, school events, hobby activities of the school, prevention programs, discussions, circles, overall life at school, etc.

The school must be a place where the teacher and the student will live well together. The quality of life of the school's actors is reflected in the quality of communication, in the effort to solve problems together, and in the authentic interest of teachers in the lives of students.

The school aims to convey new information to students, but also to develop the inner world of students and full preparation for life in society. The role of the school is to prepare students for real-life to be full members of society. Effective saturation of school functions requires conditions that will be an incentive for their fulfilment. The primary conditions of the educational process are the school and classroom environment.

The experiences of all students are reflected in the immediate environment of the school and classroom. They improve and develop interactions in the educational environment. Pupil—pupil and pupil—teacher interactions play an important role in the process of creating and improving educational conditions.

It surrounds students and teachers from the outside and connects with their subjective experience, perception and evaluation. In terms of respecting the basic function of the school, namely, to provide the student with education, we believe that the condition for a quality learning and teaching process is a feeling of security, safety and trust.

This feeling is the basis for satisfying a person's needs. The environment in which the student spends most of the day affects his thinking, feelings, his attitudes, values and, ultimately, naturally, his behaviour. The classroom climate is saturated with emotional, interpersonal and communication phenomena. The importance of ensuring the emotional security of students is part of the intentions of creative—humanistic education and is also a necessary component of the theory of emotional intelligence.

According to Dargová (2002, 192), children are stronger, more talented, and in many areas more versatile and adaptable than any generation before them, but all the more vulnerable, sensitive and emotionally hungry. They see less, feel less, understand less, cannot manage their emotional fluctuations, or control their impulses and desires, or concentrate when learning, feel less responsible for their work, or less interested in learning. From the first moment the student finds himself in the school and classroom, his personality begins to take shape.

The conditions of education are often perceived only at the level of material aspects of education. Innovative concepts intensively emphasize the appreciation of the social and emotional determinants of education.

The job of a teacher is far more extensive than just teaching. According to Nováčková (2010), the core of the teaching profession is to create the best conditions for students to be able and willing to learn.

The art of creating a safe classroom climate is not just about being good to students. It is a systematic and purposeful work with relationships in the classroom, with children's emotions, with deriving and creating rules of coexistence with the participation of children, creating an atmosphere of trust, and opening up space for communication. Safety at school means adhering to standards and respecting the rules.

An empathic, high-quality teacher-student relationship

The teacher–student relationship is an issue that is dealt with by experts from several scientific disciplines (pedagogy, psychology, paediatrics, psycho-didactics, etc.). We identify with Kačáni's (1997) view that the teacher's empathic relationship with the student is an important factor in shaping his personality. By exercising empathy, the teacher does not subordinate his work only to the demands of pupils' education or to formal rules and conventions. Such a teacher can

emotionally engage students and understand their efforts for independence. Mellibruda (1990) was dealing with climate issues for many years, he thinks that when diagnosing the state of interpersonal relationships, it must be taken into account that people differ from each other by personal preference, i.e. the internal need for a certain style of coexistence with other people. Knowing that the basic interpersonal orientation helps to determine whether a person prefers being in society or alone, whether he wants to lead someone or be led, and whether he wants to experience intense or rather calmer experiences. The author also argues that the proper functioning of relationships should start with ourselves.

Following the above facts, we emphasize the need to create an environment that will be a place for students in which they feel safe, can be fully realized, can express their opinions and feelings without fear of ridicule, and will intensively fulfil their social life role. It only depends on the teacher's approach to what extent he can create and prepare such a breeding ground for his students. When the climate in the classroom and at school at least partially meets the stated attributes, teachers may be able to eliminate the occurrence of aggressive behaviour, or at least partially eliminate it. It is the aggression and aggressive behaviour of students that contribute to reducing the sense of security of students in the classroom, from which subsequently develops other indicators that affect several components of students' quality of life. The occurrence of aggressive behaviour of students has consequences especially in the field of social relations, communication between students, mutual interaction, cooperation, trust, participation in solving problems, and belonging (Hanuliaková-Hollá, 2008, 7).

The environment of certainty and safety helps to create a learning community in classes in which pupils respect and help each other achieve their learning objectives.

The emotional component of a classroom climate is often perceived and linked to the social climate. By emphasizing the emotional elements of the classroom climate, it ensures the realization and results of children's activities, and their motivation, helping to shape interests, self-esteem, conscientiousness, perseverance, social skills, and cooperation. Promoting positive emotional relationships in the classroom and creating an emotional climate make it easier for students to do more challenging tasks, tasks that also require overcoming obstacles.

The empathic teacher, by acting on the pupil as a role model, supports the pupils' empathy and empathic behaviour. All the skills that a person has need to be practised. Empathy as a person's social skill is needed in everyday life. Every emergency to act needs to be learned and practised, and therefore it is essential to pay attention to the issue of empathy in the teaching process.

Empathy as alertness to empathize with the other person is a skill that can be developed in communication with the other person.

According to Kačáni (1997), the main tool for understanding and empathy is that through empathy the experiences and various tensions of the other person come to mind in one's own personality.

Empathy as an acquired human ability is manifested primarily in interactions with the environment. Interactions in the school and classroom environment are specific interactions. Pupils enter a social group formally, so the nature of relationships requires long-term positive action from students, whether by teachers or peers. Doktorová (2015) defined empathy into three groups:

- a) *empathy as a cognitive ability* in this sense, empathy is understood as the ability to take the perspective of another person, to look at the world through his eyes, but he can distinguish between himself and others. A cognitive process takes place that allows one to understand another person's perception, emotions, motives and behaviour (Ford, 1979; Flavell, Bothing, Wright and Jarvis, 1968);
- b) *empathy as the ability to decode signals* perception, understanding of facial expressions, posture, frequency of breathing when speaking, and tone of voice allows them to find out its emotional state. A man who can do this has a high degree of empathy (Ekman 1982; Nowicki, Duke, 1992);
- c) *empathy as an affective reaction* a person responds to the emotional state of another individual by moving to the same mood, he responds as he does. The definition of empathy is closely related to mirror neurons, which are considered the centre of empathy (Ferrari and Gallese, 2007; Hoffman, 2000).

As it is stated by the quoted author, empathy affects all aspects of the student's personality. In his work, he states that empathy is the intersection of three variables:

- 1. *cognitive component* the ability to look at the situation from the perspective of the other person;
- 2. *emotional reaction* the emotions of the other person in us evoke changes (sometimes even partially) in the experience, we tend to participate in the state of the other person;
- 3. *realizing* that the emotions that have arisen in us are related to the other person.

It requires acting on all components of the student's personality in a systematic and responsible direction of the educational process. Creating space for practical empathy exercises is possible in two ways:

- 1. *direct educational activity* through activating methods, interviews with students, real-life stories, active involvement in extracurricular activities;
- 2. *indirect educational activity* represents primarily the empathic behaviour of the teacher, ensuring the conditions.

Based on the above definitions, we have chosen factors that support the development of empathy as part of the student's social competencies. If we want to support empathy in students, they must respect the requirement of creating an emotional environment. It presents an environment in which students do not have to worry about ridicule from classmates, they can freely express their emotions, and they have created a space for simulation, staging situations in which students practice empathy. In connection with the emotional environment - it is necessary to state the requirement to ensure social and emotional security. Security in this context includes relationships – the courage to communicate openly, the interest in cooperating in a group, publicly evaluating, accepting criticism, being able to argue, etc., without the risk of social or emotional threat. As part of the process of developing empathy, students must have the opportunity to actively participate in the survival of other students, to actively participate in the analysis and take a stand in the situations experienced, and get into the role of the second student. An equally important component that is needed in practising student empathy is accepting the emotional expressions of all participants in the educational process, accepting the perceptions of others, suggestions of students that aim to improve relationships, and helping to identify the emotional state of others. The attractiveness of the group depends on the personal composition of students, characters and temperament of student personalities, representation of roles and student positions in the class, but also includes the overall mood in the group, quality of interactions, group rituals, acceptance of authorities, values recognized by the group, etc. These determinants are part of the classroom climate and play a significant role in supporting and developing the empathy of every single student.

In the text, we focus on empathy as a result of the positive effects of the socio-emotional climate of the classroom and school. The teacher, his way of communication, motivation, stimulation and emphasis on students' emotional intelligence have a significant representation in the process of supporting and improving students' empathy. Emotional intelligence is a term which was first used by Salovey and John Myer.

It includes several emotional qualities: empathy, expression and understanding of emotions, mood control, adaptability, managing one's own emotions, building interpersonal relationships, creativity, independence, perseverance, friendliness, kindness, and respect. The listed characteristics are currently

disappearing from relationships, and therefore we consider it a priority to focus on their support and development in the educational environment.

Educational environment from a social and emotional point of view

The skill of creating a safe environment for education requires the interconnection of many of its actors. From the point of view of the actors of education, it is mainly the personality of the teacher and the student, the school management, and the school staff. In terms of didactic procedures, the educational environment influences the methodological procedure, student activity, level of communication, degree of cooperation, etc. Modern didactic concepts suggest that a safe, caring, participatory school environment provides the optimal basis for learning. The current state of educational reality requires a focus on the experienced sense of security in schools and classrooms. This term refers to security in the areas of emotions, social relationships and physical health. The feeling of social, emotional, and physical security is one of the basic human needs. The perception of safety in the school and its components are considered in the research mainly through the testimonies of students, as they are active participants in its creation.

An experienced sense of security strongly supports student learning and healthy development (Devine, Cohen, 2007; in Thapa, Cohen, 2013). The authors state that many students do not feel physically and mentally safe at school, especially due to the disorders in interpersonal relationships that make up the character of the school climate. A negative perception of safety in schools was demonstrated in the context of school size — a reduced sense of security is declared by students in larger schools (Lleras, 2008).

Another important factor that reduces the feeling of security in school conditions is the presence of aggressive behaviour of students and subsequent bullying, which has an increasing tendency. The occurrence of this negative phenomenon causes a reduced interest of students to participate in school life. Rivers, Noret, and Ashurt (2009) found in a sample of 2,000 students aged 12–16 that witnesses of bullying felt depressed, anxious, and hostile.

The diversity of the student population (race, gender, sexual identity, disability, socio-economic differences, cultural differences, etc.) is in many cases a reason for bullying. In their study, Thapa and Cohen (2013) present research findings that confirm the importance of school psychosocial climate in aggression and bullying. Reducing aggression and violence in schools is linked to a positive school climate (Brookmeyer, Fanti, Henrich, 2006; Goldstein, Young, Boyd, 2008; Eliot et al., 2010; Karcher, 2002). The reduced incidence of bullying due to the positive school climate is research-based. (Birkett et al.,

2009; Kosciw, Elizabeth, 2006; Meraviglia et al., 2003; Meyer-Adams, Conner, 2008; Yoneyama, Rigby, 2006).

In recent years, we have seen an increase in bullying, which has transformed into a virtual plane. Cyberbullying is currently a serious problem that reduces the emotional, and social well-being of students at school. According to Campbell (2005), school bullying and harassment have moved to a virtual school made up of social media groups, which groups or individuals harass their peers. In Slovakia, Hollá (2013) conducts research in this area.

The connection and interdependence of the positive school climate with the risky behaviour of students are documented by research by Klein, Cornell, Konold (2012; in Thapa, and Cohen 2013). Elimination of aggressive manifestations at school and the occurrence of bullying can be realized by consistent enforcement and adherence to school discipline. Consistent promotion of school discipline is associated with school safety. Discipline at school requires respect for the rules. The rules and their respect are part of the teaching as well as the educational process. The nature of the environment in which educational activities take place necessarily requires the definition and subsequent internalisation of rules by students. Regulations and standards in the school will ensure optimal conditions of education.

3.3 SCHOOL AS A SPACE FOR COMPLIANCE

The school environment is defined by many rules, regulations, and standards that must be observed in everyday educational reality. The teacher-led educational process requires a clear definition of the rules that must be followed in terms of planning and presenting educational activities. Respecting and adhering to school rules affects the overall atmosphere, the school climate and the school environment. The school environment must be friendly to all actors in school life and support pupils' activities. The current school must provide conditions that will be characterized by openness, recognition of values, respect for the individuality of students, rigour, but also humanity.

For this reason, it is necessary to answer the question of which school is suitable for today's students?

A school with well-being, conscientious work, entertainment, real and true values, good persons, a decent, socially valuable ranking of values, and respect for all people. In the current situation, it is necessary to respond flexibly to social needs and the needs of everyday life. By shifting the importance and significance of the school in perception, the school is not a serious, valuable and recognized place:

- because education as a value is not necessary for many fields,
- because teachers are losing interest in teaching today's students,
- because the position of the school is deteriorating,
- because the school itself tries to train as many graduates as possible,
- because students learn not for life.
- because students are restricted (e.g. in activities or communication),
- because students do not respect their parents or teachers or themselves,
- · because they have no motivation to learn.

These aspects contribute to the creation of the overall culture of the school. School culture can be given not only by the image and reputation it has with the public, what its objectives and values are, but also by its history, size, legal form, structure, form of management and many other factors (Eger, Čermák, 1999).

Walter (2001, 89) states that school culture includes school climate, leadership style, coherence in the application of common strategies, pedagogical concept, defining the roles of people in school, interpersonal relationships, motivating factors, the physical environment and its image.

Important elements of the class climate are declared in the following areas.

Support means that the participants feel positive, are emotionally attuned to school work. This support from teachers and classmates reinforces the interest in finding and discovering new things, not being afraid to make a mistake and gaining from failure as well as from success in educational work.

Order: meaningfully defined rules of how students should behave, and visible and consistent effort to maintain them.

Participation means an opportunity for pupils and students to communicate, and implement activities that enable involvement, participation of pupils in decision-making, etc.

Standards: clearly defined sets of standards, what objectives everyone should achieve, but not rigorous performance, but rather attitude.

Purposefulness emphasizes the usefulness of education, and the clear meaning of individual activities or curriculum. Each lesson should have a clear purpose and a reason that can be explained to the students, which is not the statement that *it's in the curriculum or it's a graduation question*.

Responsibility: this feature expresses a personal sense of responsibility for our education, i.e. fulfilling a task, participating in schoolwork, achieving success and making visible what we strive for.

Interest in education and its support is one of the basic objectives of a teacher's work. It is possible to deepen it in various ways, including popularizing one's own subject (e.g. emphasizing its practical use). The component has

two layers because the student must also feel interested in himself and his work and feel the interest on the part of the teacher, too.

The expectation of success is actually a publicly and strongly declared expectation that the student (or class) will achieve success, be able to perform the assigned tasks well and cross their boundaries in the future. *Impartiality* declares the absence of favouritism, retention and injustice and is a clear link between well-done class work and remuneration.

Security indicates the absence of mental or physical violence and its stressors, as well as knowledge of ways to deal with similar situations. An environment that means a clean, pleasant, interesting, (in the user sense) comfortable classroom (or school) environment.

These elements of the classroom climate can be effectively used and appreciated in the context of school climate. We consider it essential to be aware of the fact that every actor in the school must consciously participate in creating the conditions for education. The role of school heads and teachers is to justify the importance of climate and not to leave it to creation and direction. If a teacher wants to actively involve students in the development of rules, he or she must ensure that students feel safe and comfortable at school. The basic element is to ensure a positive school climate.

The school's positive climate supports the development of young people and the education necessary for a productive life, for a life that contributes to a happy life in a democratic society. Such a climate involves:

- norms, values, expectations that encourage students to live socially, emotionally, physically securely,
- interest in and respect for students,
- cooperation of students, family, and teachers on a common vision of the school,
- each member of the school contributes to the operation of the school and cares for the environment,
- teachers' interest in the attitudes of pupils acquired in the teaching process.

The given characteristics of the positive school climate were developed by the National School Climate Council. In terms of ensuring optimal educational conditions, Thapa, Cohen (2013), Astor, Guerra, and Van Acker (2010) draw attention to: *safety* – the feeling of safety at school enhances the learning process of students and healthy development. Several studies suggest that many students do not feel physically and mentally safe at school, mainly due to interpersonal disorders, which are an essential part of the climate. Negative interpersonal relationships at all levels cause non-compliance with the rules.

In a school that does not appreciate the norms, structure of relationships, organization and participation of students in its organization, students are more prone to violence, and mutual victimization, accompanied by a high level of absenteeism and a lower level of achievement.

According to Payne, Gottfredson (2005), there is evidence that schools that adhere strictly to the rules and apply them effectively in practice have a lower incidence of problematic student behaviour. The relationship between compliance and a sense of security is documented in research (Eliot et al., 2010). Studies have shown that a sense of security helps students in seeking help, e.g. while bullying (Eliot et al., 2010; Gregory et al., 2011). Primary school students and secondary school students are able to actively participate in the development of rules and guidelines.

Teachers must create opportunities to actively participate in the development of prosocial behaviour and standards of behaviour in their own classroom, in the group and in the team.

Positive psychology affects satisfaction in everyone's daily life. It is essential to find out who is and what is healthy, strong, supportive, and irreplaceable in a person's life, which brings him a quality life, and it is in this area that he should focus his energy.

4 POSITIVE EDUCATION IN PEDAGOGICAL REALITY Research findings

- Positive teaching management strengthens the student's responsibility for school work, leads to duty, which brings students joy from work, supports the teacher's motivation in students, perceives student failure as one of the steps to achieving the goal.
- Pupil interest in activities is possible through attractive assignment of tasks to pupils, provision of a sufficient offer of extracurricular activities in the school environment, differentiated approach to pupils based on their abilities.
- Positive relationships at school must include the teacher's sincere interest in the student's personality, humor in the teacher's work, addressing the students by the teachers, willingness to help the students.
- The teacher is influenced by the climate of the teaching staff, relations with colleagues, the level of communication in the teaching staff, the democratic management of the school, the creation of optimal conditions, the opportunity of further education and self-education of the teacher.
- A positive school requires a school management whose priority is active
 participation of all participants in school life, mutual appreciation of work
 at all levels, which leads to joint creative activity.

4.1 Positive education from the viewpoint of secondary school students

Ensuring the conditions of education for students is one of the basic requirements for the implementation of education and training. What pupils experience in schools has a fundamental influence on the quality of mutual relations at school and class level, on the nature of communication, and the achievement of pupils' results in a positive or negative sense. Didactic strategies and approaches that the teacher applies in his work affect the character of the pupils' experience of emotions and feelings at school. The investigation of positive education from the perspective of high-school students was carried out by Valjentová in 2020. She used a questionnaire of her design, which was inspired by Seligman's program elaborated in the book *Thrive: New knowledge about the essence of happiness and the suffocation of well-being.* She divided the questionnaire into five basic areas of the well-being model according to the program acronym "PERMA":

 \mathbf{P} – positive emotion,

E - engagement,

R – positive relationship,

M - meaning,

A – accomplishment. (Seligman, 2014, 28)

Pupils evaluated selected components and determinants of positive education, which they perceive in school. Each researched area is broken down into items that further specify and complement the given area.

P – Positive emotions at school

Positive image of the school

The interviewed students said that they pay attention to the positive perception of the school from the outside environment. They are proud of the recognition and appreciation of the school's success by society. Pupils experience positive emotions and sincere pride, they enjoy the successes of their classmates, the class and the school collective, but also the individual, so they are aware of belonging to an institution such as the school. Slezáčková (2012) perceives pride as a source of self-confidence and motivation. Motivation is extremely important in the teaching process, which is given importance permanently.

Student's responsibility for preparing for classes

During the research, the students expressed that they have a responsible approach to school work based on positive leadership of the students. During the fulfilment of school duties and the acquisition of knowledge, students are guided by the moral code of the individual. Competences for life must also include a sense of duty to bear responsibility for the consequences of everyone's actions. The students appreciated that they are driven to work hard, which is a necessary prerequisite for the success of any student activity. Consistent fulfilment of duties at school brings students a sense of joy and satisfaction from solving a task or problem and, subsequently, from a well-fulfilled and well-done job. According to Křivohlavý (2010), meaningfulness is a guarantee of greater joy.

The teacher motivates the students to improve their activities

Motivating students to actively participate in the lesson is a difficult task for the teacher, which requires the knowledge and application of many activating, stimulating teaching strategies. Pupils positively evaluated the teacher's support in the development of the cognitive side. A high level of support for pupils

in case of failure, experienced failure and motivation for further performance was demonstrated. The addressed students rated hope highly, which is a strategic emotion in which lies faith, trust, conviction, and persistence that everything will turn out well, which sets goals, but also learns from mistakes. This is also confirmed by the way to hope, according to Křivohlavý (2010), that is, a positively and concretely formulated aim of current mood leading to the strengthening of motivation.

Appreciation of pupils' efforts

Motivation is influenced by praise and appreciation of effort. Expression of sincere joy, according to Zelina (2018), comes from praise, appreciation, gratitude for the interest and a positive, personal approach of the teacher. Joy, and gratitude during the teaching process in the survey are felt by slightly more than half of the high-school students. According to the quoted author, the deficit manifests itself in disinterest, boredom and even resignation, which leads to a reluctance to attend school, which leads to demotivation and indifference to aggression. Half of the students' negative opinions on this statement in the survey hide a mixture of stated feelings. Zelina compares them to hostility against the institution, pupils and teachers. Half of the respondents state that they lose effort, interest, joy, happiness, creativity, and authenticity in the learning process and only the formal side of learning prevails.

A high-school student can accurately identify the source of his positive and negative emotions. In the survey, the source of emotions is teacher—pupil and pupil—society interaction. Adolescents in the survey are proud of the school they have chosen, they feel hope and support from teachers in supplementing their knowledge, competencies, and vice versa, but not all of them feel the responsibility to complete assignments on time, which reduces the joy and satisfaction of completing tasks. A serious finding is the fact that the pupils do not feel appreciation of their efforts by the teachers and are little motivated through praise and positive evaluation.

E – Pupils' interest in the activity

Method and level of assigning tasks to students

Seligman (2014) uses the identification of characteristic features of adolescent personality at school as an element of positive psychology through an entrance questionnaire to the program of positive education of pupils. Only then does he work in youth courses. In the environment of the investigated schools, students do not feel the identification or support of their personality traits, because according to the survey of their opinions, up to half of the students do not agree with the given statement. The assigned tasks cause problems for

them, which means that the teachers have high academic demands on the pupils, or there is an absence of interest in the activity as such, which could be remedied by finding the pupils' personality characteristics and subsequently adapting the demands of the teachers to the individualities of the pupils' personalities and their educational process. As Zelina (2018) states, there is a small boundary between experiential and performance pedagogy. And it is the teachers who must know these boundaries, because the negative aspects of such a process will manifest themselves precisely on the part of the students, in the form of a lack of interest in learning, boredom, unclear direction in life, and even aggression.

Enough interest groups for students

Developing students' interest after class, supporting their strengths, activities in the school environment based on thoughtful planning, organizational possibilities and school management skills, support the student's meaningful use of his free time. The research showed that 50% of students do not participate in any club after class. The stated reasons are primary, or pupils are not interested in the activities and clubs offered by the school. According to Zelina (2018), the opposite of self-management is in the random behaviour of students, when they succumb to the pressure of other people, situations, and dependence, for example, on computers, games or useless activities.

Popularity of objects and their positive experience

Interest in teaching subjects and the internal motivation of the student are the main reasons for choosing a given secondary school. High-school students know how to identify their areas of interest, and their strengths when they are not bored at school. Respondents positively evaluate the area of focus of the school they have chosen. Positive experiences during learning subjects with which students have a positive relationship will create Csikszentmihalyi's state of flow in students.

Differentiating the roles of pupils in the classroom according to their abilities. The effective work of a teacher or class teacher, who must know the strengths of the students' personalities in the class group, also includes a fair distribution of tasks and motivating them to work together and to co-create school life. Almost half of the questioned pupils agreed with the fact that the class teacher knows them well and accordingly works with them in the framework of creating a common school life.

By fairly redistributing activities based on personality strengths, students' civic competencies are also supported. Unfair redistribution of activities leads to mistrust and problematic behaviour of pupils. Social relations in the

classrooms suffer from bias and favouring classmates by the teacher. The concept of Seligman's happiness, which is realized from human activities and life involvement, supported by strong areas of the individual's personality, is disappearing, and the result of the application of personality strengths and motivation in the survey, according to the opinions of the students, completely dishonours Csikszentmihalyi's state of flow (Csikszentmihalyi, 2015).

High-school students evaluated that the school they attend does not provide them with enough interest groups that would interest them. Teachers diagnose their characteristic features only to a minimal extent, they only work with dominant areas of the pupils' personality in half of the respondents. It is then difficult for all students to achieve a state of flow within the education process and when obtaining results.

R – Positive relationships

The teacher's sincere interest in the student's personality

The individual approach of the teacher, which is characterized by a humane, sincere, natural, non-directive approach, develops a positive feeling in the school in students as subjects. The teacher's approach is also reflected in common mutual interactions, in which mutual respect, acceptance, trust and satisfaction prevail, which leads to the creation of a positive climate in the teaching process already at the beginning of the lesson. A good feeling in school for students' learning is the objective of education. Zelina (2018) also supports such an approach to teachers and sees them as a kind teacher, able to create a pleasant educational climate that supports motivation and maintains the active interest of students in the objective of the lesson. Goleman (2011) observes a more flexible and complex intellectual thinking behind a good mood and presents the fact that students who are depressed or in a negative mood do not learn, so they cannot process the new information presented, they cannot concentrate. Only half of the surveyed respondents feel the creation of a pleasant, encouraging atmosphere at the beginning of classes, which is not optimal for the emotional, intellectual and social development of adolescents and a positive climate in the classroom.

Humor in the teachers' work

The use of humour in the teacher's work promotes a good mood and pleasant feelings during teaching. Fredrickson (2009) attributes an important role in the development and strengthening of interpersonal relationships to kind humour, she observes its great influence on better work and study performance and also its significant positive effect on health, and last but not least, she says

that it can lighten a complex gloomy atmosphere. Peterson and Seligman included a sense of humour in the classification of personality strengths. They see the meaning of humour in the support of positive and bright moments of human life, when an individual knows how to please and amuse other people, or make a joke (Seligman, Peterson, 2004; in Slezáčková, 2012). According to Goleman (2011), inducing a good mood during learning reduces feelings of anxiety and stress in students, thereby opening the mind to learning. Adolescents like positive teachers with an authentic sense of humour, who create a thriving, relaxed learning atmosphere. This fact was confirmed by 90% of the respondents, who said that they like funny stories from easygoing teachers. Pupils have positive experiences with the inclusion of humour in the work of their teachers, which benefits their good mood during classes and a positive relationship with teachers, and at the same time, they learn from mediated experiences and observations from life.

Calling pupils by their first name

Positive mutual interactions must include respect, naturalness, and openness, but also authenticity, which is based on ethical, moral and value-based behaviour. Calling pupils by their first names creates space for a personal, individual relationship between teacher and pupil, and also between an adolescent and his peers when the individual becomes aware of his human essence, uniqueness, and individuality. Young people should be guided to use their first name in social communication with peers during secondary school education. In the survey, up to 70% of the interviewed high-school students feel a measured approach to interpersonal relations.

Willingness of the teacher to help students

The teacher's willingness is one of the key pillars of the mission of the teaching profession. A motivated teacher looks for possibilities and ways of conveying the learning material to students in several ways. He applies didactic methods that affect multiple senses of students in the learning process. He can devote time to youth in his spare time, e.g., in the form of tutoring or communication via the school website and will give honest professional advice. 89% of the students questioned confirmed that they are interested in education, new knowledge and, last but not least, the fact that they trust their educators and care about their own future.

Two-thirds of the interviewed high-school students perceive positive interpersonal relationships and optimistically evaluate their teachers, they trust them because they are willing to cooperate with students beyond the scope of pedagogical duties in acquiring knowledge in the educational process. Respondents prefer positive feelings with kind humour during their education, although according to the disagree-

ing opinions on the statements, teachers tend to maintain an emotional distance during pedagogical practice and make little use of a personal approach to students or addressing the student by name and creating a positive working climate at the beginning of classes.

M – The meaning of education for pupils

Fair evaluation of students

Pupils' perception of a fair evaluation is related to personal self-regulation, awareness of the truth, insight into critical thinking and sincere trust. With evaluation, teachers can harm, but also motivate. It depends on the teacher's ability to evaluate not only performance but also behaviour and attitudes objectively, without bias and prejudice. As part of the education process, the teacher must keep in mind the student's well-being and prosperity. From the results of the opinions of high-school students in the survey, a very positive finding emerges. Respondents agreed with the statement that their critical thinking and self-reflection are at a high level, which has a strong implied meaning: the application of elements of positive psychology by educators represents a high level. The respondents positively characterized the trust, objectivity, and honesty of their teachers for their further individual development.

Visual and real practice at school motivates me and I understand professional theory better

Connecting theory with practice is a basic didactic principle that should be respected by the teacher. If so, students have the opportunity to really understand the curriculum, and thus learn to apply theoretical knowledge in practice. Seligman (2014) does not characterize meaning as a subjective state, but as something more important, something that a person remembers over time and still has meaning for his life. Respondents involved in the research state that real practice is of great importance. 83% of high-school students see the point in acquiring knowledge by linking it to real practice. According to Zelina (2018), experiential learning is a recommended form for supporting the creative learning of students in schools.

Confidential relationships between students

As part of the examination of the experience of positive emotions by students at school, it is necessary to look at the given feelings of a higher level, at the emotional perception of interpersonal relationships. Seligman (2014) draws attention to the fact that interpersonal relationships give meaning to people's lives. In the educational process, these can be relationships formed by many actors: teacher, classmate, director, coach, cook, janitor, etc. In a survey of

secondary schools, 87% of students feel a relationship with a related person in their life.

Willingness to help

Help is an activity in which egoism, hostility should be eliminated, while belonging, prosocial behaviour, empathy, congruence, authenticity should be included. Help in mutual relations reaches a higher level when it is implemented without expected recompense, returned help. In the survey, over 90% of high-school students said that high-school teachers apply elements of trust, empathy, and gratitude in their teaching practice. Koníčková (2019) foreshadowed some of the applications and draws attention to their importance by changing the pupils' approach to life.

According to the results of the survey, almost 85% of high-school students understand the meaning of their education when teachers apply elements of positive psychology in the given area. They have developed metacognitive qualities: self-reflection, self-knowledge, and self-evaluation with critical thinking. They feel the meaning in the objective evaluation of knowledge by teachers and in the curiosity arising from real, illustrative practice, which positively helps them to use in-depth learning, which develops both the cognitive and conative domains of the student's personality. Much more respondents from rural areas experience significant interpersonal relationships, but the importance of helping classmates, a certain sense of belonging, and prosocial behaviour prevail at a high level in both schools. They are looking at themselves, how they learn, what they do, how they live in society, and what kind of relationships they have with other people and what communication gives them meaning.

A - Pupils' success

Satisfaction with own life

We can say that success can be formulated into a satisfying life, within which the knowledge, qualities, skills, attitudes and opinions of an individual are accumulated. Based on their ideas, aspirations and experiences, students learn to create their life goals, when they experience a full-fledged peaceful life. The feeling of satisfaction from various achievements fills them vitally. According to Seligman (2014), successful performance consists of mastery, recognition, and winning just for the sake of achieving an objective, which is usually successful in itself. Addressed respondents know how to identify their success, which is manifested in their satisfaction with life, they know how to feel happiness and satisfaction when their small and large objectives are met with success and life flows according to their expectations. Up to two-thirds of the respondents confirmed their resourcefulness, independence, breakthrough,

4 Positive education in pedagogical reality

creativity, adaptability and healthy self-confidence, internal motivation, and ability to recognize their strengths and weaknesses. Success based on belief in one's abilities and knowledge supports the student's healthy self-confidence.

I experience positive emotions (joy, satisfaction) when my parents appreciate my success

During using elements of positive psychology in pedagogical practice, teachers must take into account the "teenage period" of adolescents, in which, according to Gáborová and Porubčanova (2017), young people present their opinions and mistrust of the adult population is manifested. Nowadays, it is important to lead adolescents to gratitude during their education. According to Koníčková (2019), gratitude fills students' lives with joy. In the survey, up to 93% of respondents feel joy and satisfaction when they feel their parents' recognition. According to the respondents, family emotional ties are strong and they feel gratitude. Tamášová and Kušnieriková (2018) highlight the importance of emotional family bonds for the healthy emotional development of an individual.

More than 90% of high-school students understand success as living a happy, satisfying life in the family circle, when they do what they are interested in, their life flows according to their expectations, and they come closer to achieving the set objectives. Based on the knowledge, skills, opinions and attitudes that they acquired in education, they have more self-confidence, and we can state that teachers lead adolescents to understand, experience and accept success in life.

Interesting results are documented by the respondents' statements, in which they had to complete the sentence "When I'm at school I feel...". The respondents supplemented the given statement with the presented emotions according to their feelings toward the researcher. The statements were ranked from the highest to the lowest point score. The results of the survey of respondents' subjective feelings show the following.

Number	Feeling	%
1.	happiness	66%
2.	boredom, fatigue	64%
3.	curiosity	60%
4.	satisfaction	49%
5.	inspiration, enthusiasm	45%
6.	pretense, sadness, stage fright	30%

Table 2. Subjective feelings when being in school

The above-mentioned most frequently reported feelings are influenced, created and supported by the school and classroom climate, the emotional and social atmosphere of the school, the quality of interactions in the institutions, the use of information and communication technologies, the selection for performance-oriented education, the dominance of transmissive teaching, non-activating didactic methods, minimal respect for the individuality of students, etc.

By processing all the students' statements, the adolescents confirmed that in their developmental stage of adolescence they are able to perceive, experience and give out positive emotions, but they are able to report negative feelings when they are fighting for their happiness.

4.2 Positive education from the viewpoint of secondary school teachers

Applying elements of positive psychology to the education process requires the didactic competence of a teacher who can respond flexibly to current educational situations. Secondary school teachers influence the nature of the process with each didactic determinant through their approach. Elements of positive education can be applied to every didactic, methodical component of a teacher's work.

I) Positive feelings experienced at school

A positive experience of life at school cannot be directed only at pupils. The teacher's personality is an equally essential component of school and classroom life. A positive experience of school life affects:

a) Open, human and professional communication among the teaching staff High-quality communication between teachers is conditioned by mutual trust, willingness to help each other, and understanding. The motivation of a teacher's work is increased by work well-being, a sense of security, respect, perspective, humanity, and inspiration. As part of the research findings, up to 91.67% of teachers expressed satisfaction with the teaching staff of which they are a part. Favourable and helpful relationships, according to Blaštíková (2018), will build the required competencies of teachers. With the finding of 71.67%, it can be concluded that positive communication in the investigated teaching corps is at a beneficial level. Communication between teachers affects the creation of a favourable school climate, which affects all actors in school life. Several authors, such as Maslowski (2001), Fullan (2007), and Franková (2004) recommend cooperation and communication in the teachers—teacher, teacher—teachers relationship as a strategic factor of school culture.

b) The open, democratic style of school management supports the teacher's personal and professional development

The teacher's trust in the school management, their support in professional growth, a supportive climate is manifested in effective, optimal and successful work with students, but also with parents. The finding that 2/3 of the survey respondents trust high-school management is debatable. Blaštíková (2018), Seligman (2012), Baranyai (2016), Šuťáková and Ferencová (2019) see the principles of democracy and civic belonging in the management of a secondary school. In the same way, Urbanek (2021) considers school management – the principal from the point of view of the pedagogical climate, as a decisive element for the quality of the teaching staff. The majority of respondents rely on the management of their school, even though the perception of positive aspects dropped to 66.67%, which may reflect unfavourably on the application of the element in creating a positive school climate.

c) Humane, authentic and patient approach to students based on individual characteristics

Internal unity, morality, a positive attitude, encouraging the adolescent during education, an empathic approach, practising an optimistic pedagogical approach, building trust, and creating hope constitute the integrity of the educator. His actions support the student's internal motivation to learn and the desired control of their behaviour during secondary education, thereby positively influencing the classroom and the school climate. The study by Seligman and Peterson (2004) draws attention to the teacher's honesty, kindness, and sincerity, which is supported by honest self-declaration and helps to develop the integrity of a high-school student, because, as the authors claim, various psychosocial stressors during education might make it impossible (Seligman, Peterson, 2004; in Kahancová, Nábělková, 2013, 81–85).

In the survey, up to 91.67% of respondents identify with the statement. An interesting finding is that 80% of the answers are related to positive emotions, which means that 12% of teachers do not share the positive feelings we provided for the statement. The teacher's positive, open approach to students also includes elements such as hope, trust, motivation, conviction, and persistence in believing in good. Křivohlavý just formulates a path to hope as a positively and realistically stylized goal of the current mood supported by motivation (Křivohlavý, 2015). Kremnická (2021) identifies the transformed pedagogical-didactic activity of a reflective teacher in a differentiated approach to the student when assigning duties and eliminating errors during learning.

d) Warm encouragement of students as a self-evident part of the teacher's didactic work

The high level of the teacher's evaluation competencies is manifested in the

evaluation of the student in such a way that he has a responsible, personal approach. He motivates with hope and inspiration, which are signs of sincere and warm praise. The sense of valuing pupils' performances, the processes and procedures through which they reached their performances, and the forms of behaviour in the class group result in a safe climate in the educational environment. Safe in terms of social and emotional well-being.

According to Zelina (2018), a self-creative teacher encourages his students, thereby awakening their motivation. Happiness, satisfaction, joy of inspiration are also accompanied by feelings of gratitude of teenagers for every sincere recognition of their efforts. As many as 55 survey respondents can express heartfelt praise sincerely, casually and authentically. According to the theory of Fredrickson (2011), the findings of 81.67% represent the positive emotions perceived by teachers in secondary education. By not receiving recognition, according to Baranyai (2016), teenagers lose effort, joy, happiness, interest, creativity and authenticity, the sincerity of the learning process, they only meet the signs of a formal aspect of learning and feel hostility towards the institution, classmates and teachers, which is manifested in an unfavourable classroom climate and schools.

Positive emotions and experiences of teachers in the educational process are associated with:

- support from other colleagues,
- a humane and professional atmosphere in the teaching staff,
- the democratic style of school management,
- motivation for more intensive involvement in pedagogical work.

In relation to pupils:

- they use positive evaluation praise,
- they create space for students to correct mistakes, failures,
- they use the experiences and emotional experiences of pupils when creating a working climate.

II) Teachers' interest

a) I like to participate in innovative educational courses offered by the school

The innovative didactic approach of teachers requires permanent and continuous education through various forms and methods that reflect pedagogical and didactic trends. Activity, engagement and self-realization motivation supported by feelings of happiness and satisfaction on the part of the teacher can be a motivating element for the students themselves. By the results of the research of Seligman (2012), Goleman (2017) and the research conducted by

Valjentová (2022), 50% of teachers do not participate in innovative educational courses, seminars, methodological days, professional lectures organized by the school where they work. In the implementation of innovative elements in education, several barriers are identified, the most serious of which is the lack of interest of educators. In the survey, 45% of respondents have a change, an innovation in the educational approach associated with a set of positive emotions. So the results create a negative image of the professionalism of the pedagogue, while international and national documents draw attention to the need for increased professionalism and continuous professional development of pedagogues – European Commission, 2014 (Orosová, 2020).

b) Optimal working conditions and environment

The optimal school environment of the school in the educational reality supports the interest, inspiration, engagement of teachers for various creative activities that multiply the feelings of happiness, motivation and respect. Up to 60% of respondents agree with the statement and are convinced that they are doing well in their schools. An important determinant of the educational environment is the secondary school environment. Zelina (2018) and Baranyai (2016) agree with the opinion that an administrative type of school rules in Slovakia, which does not support creative working conditions for teachers and does not support positivity in the working community and the working process. The reflection of working conditions in current, modern times and the needs of society contribute to the timelessness of education, the relevance of the need to develop students' life skills, and the needs of society.

c) I prefer the face-to-face form of education and teaching

An educational reality in which there is a positive social, emotional, and communication climate is accompanied by satisfaction, happiness, joy, inspiration, and interest. "Face-to-face" teaching in an authentic school and classroom environment creates conditions for teachers to motivate students more easily, support engagement in activities, creatively approach the support of students' creativity and of course, create and develop a positive classroom and school climate. 2/3 of teachers prefer face-to-face teaching.

d) I assign students tasks and activities according to their characteristic personality strengths and individual capabilities

Diagnosing and getting to know students' personalities is a key skill of every teacher. With an individual and empathetic approach, the teacher obtains information about the student's knowledge, skills and abilities. Based on the mentioned fact, the teacher knows how to project didactic strategies, and prepare teaching material corresponding to the personalities of the students in the class, thus respecting the principle of individual approach and

appropriateness. An individual approach to the student and respect for his learning style will ensure success for the educator, which will result from his learning, education and upbringing process. Up to 90% of the interviewed teachers respect an important element of positive education, which is the acceptance of the strengths of the student's personality, thereby supporting the development of his individuality. Representatives of positive psychology conceive a basic element in their theories such as Seligman (2012) — on happiness and well-being, Csikszentmihalyi (2015) — on flow, and Goleman (2017) — on socioemotional literacy. Unfair and biased redistribution of activities in the classroom can lead to manifestations of animosity and hatred in the student body, which reduces the quality of mutual interactions as well as the optimal educational classroom climate.

Teachers do not show interest in participating in innovative education within the school. The options offered are not inspiring for teachers to be interested in modern, innovative didactic-pedagogical approaches to education. It is necessary to pay attention to the creation and support of optimal working conditions and an environment for teaching. They are aware that assignments, tasks, and activities have to be assigned to students based on their personality strengths.

III) Good relationships

a) I experience emotional harmony and a sense of belonging in the teaching team

The teaching staff is a specific type of work group – feminization of the staff, age diversity, and university graduates. The satisfaction of pedagogues in the teaching staff is based on the recognition and appreciation of their work by colleagues, understanding, acceptance of innovations, feelings of social security, respect, and pride. An interesting finding is that only 61.67% of teachers share the joy of work, which includes the certainty of freedom, and acceptance of independence. Based on the theory of Fredrickson (2011), 61.67% of perceived positive emotions are insufficient for an optimistic creative working climate of teachers in the pedagogical corps. Based on the mentioned fact, it is necessary to prepare trainee teachers for effective teamwork, and cooperation with psychologists, special educators and other experts in pedagogical practice as part of undergraduate training.

b) Within the framework of education, I respect and follow the rules of the school

Respect and compliance with rules, requirements and principles is an essential parts of quality school life. The teacher must emphasize the preventive

presentation of the requirements and principles of the school. Part of the teacher's work is the work with the student's parents, to whom it is also necessary to present the given rules and argue for their compliance. Acceptance of the rules by all actors of school life leads to healthy relationships, mutual trust, acceptance, and a fair educational process. Respect for school regulations was confirmed by all respondents, while 6.7% of respondents are not convinced of the positive emotional impact of following the rules on the student. Order, principles, rules, directives, and regulations contribute to the creation of the climate in the school and the classroom. Many parents see the term *positive school climate* as easing the demands on students in their secondary school education. But more demanding curricula or standard requirements placed on students during education do not have to negatively affect the climate of the school or the classroom, because they create a happy environment, which is what every parent wants for their child (Orosová, 2020).

Strict compliance with the rules can be supported by applying activities at the beginning of the school year, when students and teachers create and discuss rules that will be respected by all. The rules will be properly discussed, including a compliance plan and specified penalties for breaking them. Mutual discussion and subsequent agreement will support mutual educational trust, calmness and energy leading to a safe high-school climate.

c) I dedicate the beginning of the lesson to creating a relaxed atmosphere

With a short conversation and sincere interest in the student, it is possible to create a relaxed atmosphere, eliminate stress and negative feelings in the students. Seligman (2012) recommends an optimistic, authentic, warm, kind approach of the teacher from the beginning of the teaching unit, which motivates and encourages creative work, thereby creating a positive climate in the classroom. Goleman (2017) considers the first sincere eye contact to be crucial. The relaxed conversation at the beginning of the class will also be reflected in the social interactions of the participants, where motivation, joy, happiness, enthusiasm, and satisfaction will be present, which support the meaning of education and lead to feelings of hope, trust and gratitude. The pedagogical mastery of the teacher is manifested in the ability to create a relaxed atmosphere and to use humour in communication, which strengthens interpersonal relationships. The deliberate attention paid by teachers to the beginning of the lesson was confirmed by 50% of the respondents, which means that they do not attach importance to a relaxed introduction.

d) Within the framework of education, I appeal to students on the issue of values, morals, character of people, ethics

A teacher who, through open dialogue, accepts the students' freedom, motivates them to higher plans, leads them to the meaning of life, honestly tells them the

truth is appreciated by the students. The stated approach to pupils was confirmed by 86.67% of the respondents, and 70% of them share the assigned positive emotions. Initiating deliberate and appropriate discussion with high-school students creates space for different points of view on the meaning of life. Questions of altruism, optimism, and positive strengths of people's character can be applied to various types of subjects, whether general or professional.

The educational process is dependent, or conditioned by interpersonal relationships, which are characteristic from the point of view of positive psychology:

- togetherness,
- a safe psychosocial and emotional climate,
- respecting school and institutional rules,
- open and two-way communication,
- applying and respecting the elements of ethics, morals, values.

IV) The meaning of pedagogical action

a) School is a workplace where I like to work and cooperate with students, parents and colleagues

The school as workplace should represent a space of satisfaction, joy, inspiration, justice, freedom, mutual acceptance and recognition, respect and trust, which lead to the fulfillment of the meaning of the teacher's work. For 2/3 of the respondents, school is the mentioned workplace, and teachers associate this statement with experiencing positive emotions. According to Šuťáková and Ferencová (2019), positive communication, teacher cooperation with students, parents, teachers, and the wider school community is a strategic means on the way to achieving visions and plans.

b) Evaluation of students' work and activities is always objective and fair

Diagnostic and evaluation competencies of the teacher are crucial not only for the student but also for the teacher. The evaluation confronts the pupil's point of view and the teacher's point of view. The student must perceive the result of the evaluation as an appreciation of effort, critical thinking and motivation. The motivational evaluation builds trust, a sense of security, hope and truth, which affects the atmosphere and climate in the classroom and school. Biased evaluation can harm the student, demotivate and reduce his interest in working at school and in progressing and achieving his desired performances and results. According to Štofková Dianovská (2020) and Zelina (2018), the teacher should create a space for students in which he will support self-regulated teaching: the student has the opportunity to monitor and comment on learning and thinking, evaluate the effort expended, eliminate distracting

influences and mobilize learning and objective-setting through a positive experience of learning. 95% of respondents agree with the statement that they evaluate objectively and fairly.

The meaningfulness of the teacher's pedagogic-didactic work is reflected in the student's relationship with the school and teaching. A positive perception of the meaning of a teacher's work also includes sharing one's hobbies and extracurricular activities with students. However, the fact confirmed that teachers do not feel positive emotions when they should share their extracurricular interests with students. This finding contributes to the fact that students do not have the opportunity to get to know their teacher during free time activities and vice versa. Student evaluation is objective and fair, in some cases and situations teachers also use formative evaluation.

V) Success

a) The school management actively involves students and teachers in school life

Active participation of students and teachers is a key element from the point of view of school management. The school management considers motivating students and teachers to participate in school activities as a friendly and fair play step that leads to success during education and work. The welcoming attitude of the school management offers feelings of security, justice, respect and acceptance leading to freedom, recognition and respect in a favourable school climate. The participation of actors in the life of the school can be included among the innovative factors of school culture. In the survey, up to 86.7% of teachers agree with the statement that the school management actively involves them in school life. However, 31.67% of respondents do not feel positive about the applied element of positive education.

b) Recognition, praise and fair evaluation from pupils, parents and colleagues or the school management is a matter of course in the school

Positive evaluation in school does not only apply to pupils. It is also an important factor for the teacher. Valuing honest and meaningful work leads to pride, and affects the working environment, its climate, and mutual relations, thereby contributing to a positive image of the school. The success of the teacher's self-realization activities supports his confidence in himself, his abilities and his knowledge, thereby expanding the interest and enthusiasm for work to general happiness and good, and prevention against burnout syndrome. Positive feedback on the teacher's work-effort brings joy along with it, and motivation for further professional days, and also satisfaction with the given state of affairs, thereby creating and supporting their integrity. Seligman, Peterson

(2004), Kahancová, and Nábělková (2013) include integrity among virtues and the strengths of character. It can be considered a negative finding that only 48% of respondents have direct experience with positive feedback, with a positive evaluation of their work by students and parents.

c) We present the students' achievements on the school's website

Publication of pupils' achievements, awards and recognition motivate and encourages other pupils and parents to participate in activities, contributing to the creation of a good name for the school towards the general public. Joint creative activity motivates teachers and students, supports enthusiasm, inspires hope, strengthens trust and gratitude, and participates in the creation of a safe social and emotional climate. In the conducted research, 53% of respondents actively work on publishing the achievements of students, and up to 76.67% of respondents are aware of the importance of the applied element for a creative and safe school and classroom climate.

d) Physical and mental condition is an important pillar of my mission – teacher

Self-perception and self-evaluation belong to the teacher's self-evaluation processes. Respect for oneself and one's identity, contribute to positive interpersonal relationships. Relationships are created in a calm and balanced climate of the school and classroom. By processing the statements of secondary school teachers, we can evaluate the fact that up to 96.67% of respondents take care of their mental and physical health. Health was assigned by Norrish, and Seligman (2015) as the sixth element of Health in PERMA (in Moore, 2021).

Since teaching practice is a demanding profession in which a teacher can quickly lose motivation and enthusiasm, Felcmanová (2021) recommends supporting the well-being of teachers across the board, especially maintaining their psychological, physical and social health. In connection with the principles of a positive approach to education, Seligman (2012) and Goleman (2017) support the creation of resilience in educators in their courses. Resilience and its support represent prevention against stress and exhaustion from completing demanding tasks, and helps health with a proactive approach.

Success for teachers means:

- participation of students, teachers, and parents in school life,
- a free and creative climate,
- recognition of pedagogical work,
- teacher support from the school management.

4.3 Didactic work of the teacher and positive psychology

Prioritizing a sensitive, empathetic approach to students:

- creating a positive atmosphere at the beginning of the lesson,
- application of experiential learning strategies with an individual approach, objective evaluation and sincere praise for the effort expended, supporting internal motivation, creating a space in which the student experiences success,
- emphasizing positive emotions, expressing personal feelings, their authenticity and naturalness,
- using humour in the teacher's work.

Attractive and meaningful organization of free time:

provision of a wide range of clubs and activities of interest to pupils, according to previously identified interests.

Applying elements of positive psychology to education:

the use of elements of positive psychology in every subject, in every stage of the teaching unit, in the activities of the teacher, but also of the pupil.

Emphasis on student responsibility:

- support for responsible behaviour in the fulfilment of school duties,
- reasonable and responsible use of computing technology in cyberspace,
- support for healthy interactions,
- support for the optimal positive prosperity of the personality in the educational process.

Identifying and supporting the strengths of students' character:

- the use of questionnaires, through which it is possible to identify the character of pupils,
- support for pupils' well-being and resilience through coping strategies.

Observing and respecting the requirements and principles of the school rules:

- appropriate and disciplined behaviour,
- polite and correct approach to students, teachers, school staff, peers,
- showing respect and sincere appreciation towards students, but also colleagues and superiors,
- application of life principles.

Use of various forms and methods of evaluating student performance:

- application of evaluation that is motivating for students,
- applying formative evaluation,

- creating space for every student to experience success,
- applying mainly partial evaluation with a motivational character.

(Čeretková et al., 2019).

4.4 School leadership and positive psychology

Provide educators with effective accredited educational programs:

- creating optimal working conditions and an environment for teaching their approval,
- motivating them into free time club activities, with subsequent fair evaluation.

Work with parents as important co-actors of school life:

- the educational action of parents and teachers in the field of developing the strengths of pupils' personalities,
- active involvement of parents in the participation of the student's life at school,
- developing a sincere interest in solving their children's problems,
- promoting knowledge and respect for the teacher's work, thereby influencing the application of elements of positive education in school.

Finding out the current climate:

- through questionnaires in which the class teacher diagnoses the social climate of the class from the beginning of the school year,
- finding out the climate of the teaching staff,
- involving parents in the evaluation of the school climate,
- creating a school climate based on the pillars of openness, responsibility, honesty, and mutual respect.

CONCLUSION

Students associate starting secondary education with a positive institution, with an inspiring curriculum and a teacher who is a model of humanity and truth. Expectations can be realized in every secondary school because education and training in general contain elements of progressive changes in the personality of pupils – during their studies at secondary school, they just need to be positively activated.

The objective of positive psychology is to highlight the possibilities and importance of an active positive view of human behaviour and optimal development and growth in the educational process of adolescents.

The optimum application of elements of positive education is a demanding and conscious process of changing the perspective of all actors. Although we theoretically discussed the influence of the main actors on the positive development of an adolescent's personality in the work, we believe that research findings on applied elements from the perspective of other members of education would be interesting for society.

It depends on the management of the school, i.e. principals, teachers, masters, and school employees, what rules and directions for the development of the climate of the secondary school will be determined. Effective high-school education is characterized by elements of progressive changes in the personality of adolescents, and the favourable climate of the school and classroom can start them up, accompany and build them, precisely by the application of the elements of positive education in its creation.

Based on the empirical findings of positive psychology scientists, a space is opened in education to achieve the educational objectives in secondary school. Through the form of positive thinking, experiencing, living and thus optimally developing the cognitive, non-cognitive, and conative potential of pupils and subsequently mastering metacognitive activities, which are a guarantee of breeding the superimposition of pupils. Then the result of the entire educational process is not only an educated but a wise, healthy, kind, good, well-rounded, aesthetic, ethical, honest person who understands the meaning of his existence and has a beneficial, irreplaceable attitude towards the surrounding society.

When creating the climate of the school and classroom, according to the findings of the survey, the elements of positive education are to be adequately applied, such as an active atmosphere and communication in the working

pedagogical team, belonging supported by the school management, the participation of pupils and teachers in the life of the school, respect for and reminder of the school rules, individual and humanistic approach by teachers, finding out and using the strengths of the student's personality, a friendly approach to supplementing knowledge, objective and fair evaluation with subsequent praise and warm encouragement of the students, discussion leading to the sharpening of the sense of morality, ethics and the strengths of personalities during classes, as well as the use of a healthy lifestyle.

- ASPINWALL, Lisa G STAUDINGER, Ursula M. (eds.): A Psychology of Human Strengths. Fundamental Questions for a Positive Psychology, Washington: American Psychological Association, 2004.
- ASTOR, Ron Avi Guerra, Nancy van Acker, Richard: How can we improve school safety research?, *Educational Researcher* 39 (2010), 69–78, https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09357619
- Augustinus, Aurelius: Vyznání I IX, Praha: OIKOYMEN, 2019.
- BAKKER, Arnold B: Flow among Music Teachers and Their Students: The Crossover of Peak Experiences, *Journal of Vocational Behavior* 66(1), 2005, 26–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2003.11.001
- BARANYAI, Ladislav: Škola s pointou Veľkého diela navrhnutá ako komunitné edukačné centrum, in Zuzana Čačová Peter Lenčo: Škola ako aktér zmeny v životoch detí a komunite, Bratislava, Nadácia otvorenej spoločnosti Open Society Foundation, s. 2016, 7–32.
- Barrett, Richard (2010): The New Leadership Paradigm: Leading Self, Leading Others, Leading an Organization, Leading in Society. USA: The Values Center; in Baranyai (2016).
- BILČÍK, Alexander BALÁŽOVÁ, Jana: *Na ceste ku kvalite a inklúzii v strednej škole*, Týn nad Vltavou Malá Strana, Nová Forma s. r .o., 2021.
- BIRKETT, Michelle ESPELAGE, Dorothy L. KOENING, Brian: LGB and Questioning Students in Schools: The Moderating Effects of Homophobic Bullying and School Climate on Negative Outcomes, *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 38 (2009), 989–1000, http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10964-008-9389-1
- BITTNER, Igor: Súvislosť sociálno-emocionálneho zdravia a depresie u žiakov stredných škôl. Diplomová práca. Bratislava, PEVŠ, 2017.
- BLAŠTÍKOVÁ, Lucie: Významné oblasti pozitívního klimatu školy v kontextu vybraných modelů, Lifelong Learning celoživotní vzdělávaní 8 (2018), 25–41.
- Bronfenbrenner, Urie (ed.): *Making human beings human: Bioecological perspectives on human development*, Sage Publications Ltd, 2005.
- Bronk, Kendall Cotton Hill, Patrick L. Lapsley, Daniel K. Talib, Tasneem L. Finch, Holmes: Purpose, hope, and life satisfaction in three age groups, *The Journal of Positive Psychology* 4 (2009), 500–510, https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760903271439
- BROOKMAYER, Kathryn A. FANTI, Kostas A. HENRICH, Christopher C.: Schools, Parents, and Youth Violence: A Multilevel, Ecological Analysis, *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, 35 (2006), 504–514, http://dx.doi.org/10.1207/s15374424jc-cp3504_2
- CAMPBELL, Neil A. REECE, Jane B.: Biology, San Francisco, Benjamin Cummings, 2005.

- Celestine, Nicole A.: Broaden-and-Build Theory of Positive Emotions, *PositivePsychology, Positive Emotions* (2016), https://positivepsychology.com/broaden-build-theory/ (Registration Number: 64733564).
- Сни, Po Se Saucier, Donald A. Hafner, Eric: Meta-Analysis of the Relationships between Social Support and Well-Being in Children and Adolescents, *Journal of Social* & Clinical Psychology 29 (2010), 624–645, http://dx.doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2010.29.6.624
- Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly: Flow. O štěstí a smyslu života, Praha, Portál, 2015.
- CSIKSZENTMIHALYI, Mihaly Hunter, Jeremy: 2003. Happiness in everyday life: The uses of experience sampling, *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being* 4 (2003), 185–199, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024409732742
- ČAPEK, Róbert: *Třídní klima a školní klima*. Praha, Grada Publishing, a.s., 2010.
- ČEREŠNÍK, Michal ČEREŠNÍKOVÁ, Miroslava: Exekutívne funkcie dospievajúcich vo veku 10-15 rokov. Vývinové trendy, in Eva Gajdošová (ed.): *Pozitívna psychológia pre pozitívny život*, Bratislava, Fakulta psychológie PEVŠ, 2018.
- ČERETKOVÁ, Soňa et al.: Kompetencie učiteľa hodnotenie sebahodnotenie, Praha, Verbum, 2019.
- Damon, William Menon, Jenni Bronk, Kendall Cotton (2003): The development of purpose during adolescence, *Applied Developmental Science* 7 (2003), 119–128, https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532480XADS0703_2
- Dargová, Jarmila Čonková, Ľubomíra: *Emocionálna inteligencia a tvorivá výučba*, Prešov, Privatpress, 2002.
- Devine, John Cohen, Jonathan: *Making your school safe: Strategies to protect children and promote learning*, New York, Teachers College Press, 2007.
- Doκtorová, Dominika Ručκová, Gabriela: Účinnosť rolových hier na vyjadrenie emócií vo vzťahu matka a dieťa, Psychológia a patopsychológia dieťaťa, 1 (2), (2015), 31–39.
- DWECK, Carol S.: *Mindset: The New Psychology of Success*, New York, Random House Publishing Group, 2006.
- Ďuríková, Kornélia: Pozitívna edukácia, charakter a jeho silné stránky. Študijný materiál spracovaný pre interné potreby Štátnej školskej inšpekcie, 2016.
- EGER, Ludvik ČERMÁK, Jan: Podniková kultura a kvalita pracovního života na základných školách, *Pedagogika* 49 (1999), 57–68.
- EKMAN, Paul FRIESEN, Wallace V. (1982): Felt, false, and miserable smiles, *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior* (6), 238–258.
- ELIOT, Megan CORNELL, Dewey GREGORY, Anne FAN, Xitao (2010): Supportive school climate and student willingness to seek help for bullying and threats of violence, *Journal of School Psychology* 48, 533–553, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2010.07.001
- FAN, Weihua WILLIAMS, Cathy M. CORKIN, Danya Marie: A multilevel analysis of student perceptions of school climate: The effect of social and academic risk factors, *Psychology in the Schools* 48 (2011), 632–647, https://doi.org/10.1002/pits.20579
- FELCMANOVÁ, Lenka (2021): Wellbeing ve vzdělávání, nadstavba nebo nutnost?, *Řízení školy* (6), 2021.

- Ferrari, Pier Gallese, Vittorio (2007): *Mirror neurons and intersubjectivity*. On Being Moved: From Mirror Neurons to Empathy, https://doi.org/10.1075/aicr.68.08fer
- FLAVELL, John H. et al.: The development of role-taking and communication skills in children, New York, Wiley, 1968.
- FORD, Richard et al.: Federal Intervention in Teacher Education, *American Behavioral Scientist* (23)2, (1979), 145–168, https://doi.org/10.1177/000276427902300202
- FOX EADES, Jennifer M.: Celebrating Strengths: Building Strengths-based Schools, CAPP Press, 2008.
- Franco, Zeno Allison, Scott T. Kinsella, Elaine L. et al. (2016): Heroism Research: A Review of Theories, Methods, Challenges, and Trends, *Journal of Humanistic Psychology* 58(4), 382–396, https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167816681232
- Franková, Emilie (2004): Organizační kultura podporující inovace, in Lukášová, Ružena Nový, Ivan et al.: *Organizační kultura*, Praha, Grada, 2004.
- FREDRICKSON, Barbara, L.: The role of positive emotions in positive psychology: The broaden-and-build theory of positive emotions, *American Psychologist* 56 (2001), 218–226, https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.218
- Fredrickson, Barbara.: Positivity: Groundbreaking research reveals how to embrace the hidden strength of positive emotions, overcome negativity, and thrive, Crown Publishers, Random House, 2009.
- Fredrickson, Barbara L.: *Positivity: Groundbreaking Research to Release Your Inner Optimist and Thrive*, London, Oneworld Publications, 2011.
- Froh, Jeffrey J. Wood, Alex M. Geraghty, Adam W. A. (2010): Gratitude and wellbeing: A review and theoretical integration, *Clinical Psychology Review* 30(2010), 890–905, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2010.03.0005
- Fullan, Michael: Leading in a Culture of Change, San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass, 2007.
- Furlong, Michael James et al.: Preliminary development and validation of the social and emotional health survey for secondary school students, *Social Indicators Research* 117 (2014), 1011–1032, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-013-0373-0
- Furlong, John: *Teaching tomorrow's teachers*, 2015, https://media.bloomsbury.com/rep/files/teaching-tomorrows-teachers-final1.pdf
- Gable, Shelly L. Reis, Harry T. (2010): Good news! Capitalizing on positive events in an interpersonal context, *Advances in experimental social psychology* 42(2010), 195–257, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2601(10)42004-3
- Gáborová, Ľubica Porubčanová, Dáša: *Vývinová psychológia Vysokoškolská učebnica*, Brno, Tribun EU, 2017.
- GAJDOŠOVÁ, Eva: Sociálno-emocionálne zdravie ako významný indikátor kvality školy, in Eva Gajdošová Marek Madro Marta Valihorová (eds.): *Duševné zdravie a wellbeing virtuálnej generácie*, Bratislava: IPčkop, 2018, 245–253.
- GAJDOŠOVÁ, Eva BISAKI, Veronika: Rola školského psychológa v kontexte pozitívnej psychológie, Školský psychológ. Školní psycholog 16 (2015), 96–100.
- GILLHAM, Jane et al. (2011): Character strengths predict subjective well-being during adolescence, *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 6(1), 31–44.

- GILMAN, Rich HUEBNER, E. Scott FURLONG, Michael J. (eds.): *Handbook of positive psychology in schools*, New York, Routledge Taylor & Francis Group, 2009, https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203884089
- GOLDSTEIN, Sara E. YOUNG, Amy BOYD, Carol: Relational aggression at school: Associations with school safety and social climate, *Journal of Youth and Adolescence* 37, (2008), 641–654.
- GOLEMAN, Daniel: Emocionálna inteligencia, MESTO Citadella, 2017.
- GOTTFREDSON, Gary D. GOTTFREDSON, Denise C. PAYNE, Allison Ann GOTTFREDSON, Nisha C. (2005): School Climate Predictors of School Disorder: Results from a National Study of Delinquency Prevention. Schools, *Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency* 42(2005), 412–444, https://doi.org/10.1177/0022427804271931
- Grecmanová, Helena (2003): Vyučovací klima, Pedagogická orientace, 12 (2), 2003, 2-19.
- Gregory, Anne Cornell, Dewey Fan, Xitao. (2011): The relationship of school structure and support to suspension for rate Black and White high-school students, *American Educational Research Journal* 48, 904–934, https://doi.org/10.3102/0002831211398531
- Halama, Peter: Profil zmyslu života pokus o grafickú reprezentáciu hodnotovej štruktúry osobnosti, in Kazimierz Popielski Eva Naništová Judita Stempelová (eds.): *K psychológii osobného subjektu II. poľsko-slovenské sympózium,* Trnava, Inštitút existenciálnejpsychológie a noo-logoterapie, 2001, 93–106.
- HALAMA, Peter: Vývin a konštrukcia škály životnej zmysluplnosti, Československá psychologie 46(2002), 265–276.
- HALAMA, Peter: *Zmysel života z pohľadu psychológie*, Bratislava, SAP, 2007, https://www.researchgate.net/publication/280384756_Zmysel_zivota_a_fenomen_flow_Meaning_of_Life_and_the_Flow
- HANULIAKOVÁ, Jana: Škola prostredie podporujúce osobnosť žiaka, *Prohuman, Pedagogika/psychológia*, 2016, https://www.prohuman.sk/pedagogika/skola-prostredie-podporujúce-osobnost-ziaka
- Hanuliaková, Jana Hollá, Katarína: Agresívne správanie sa žiakov a jeho vplyv na klímu triedy, *Vychovávateľ* 56 (2008), 5–9.
- HASSED, Craig: *The Essence of Health: The Seven Pillars of Wellbeing*, Sydney, Random House, 2008.
- Hawker, Dawid S. J. Boulton, Michael J.: 2000. Twenty Years' Research on Peer Victimization and Psychosocial Maladjustment: A Meta-Analytic Review of Cross-Sectional Studies *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines* 41 (2000), 441–455, https://doi.org/10.1111/1469-7610.00629
- Held, Barbara S.: The negative side of positive psychology, *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 44, (2004), 9–46, https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167803259645
- HENDREN, Robert BIRRELL WEISEN, Rona ORLEY, John H. WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION: Division of Mental Health. Mental health programmes in schools, 1994, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/62308

- HICKS, Joshua A. King, Laura A.: Positive mood and social relatedness as information about meaning in life, *The Journal of Positive Psychology* 4(2009), 471–482, https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760903271108
- HOFFMAN, Martin L.: Empathy and moral development: Implications for caring and justice, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2000, https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511805851 HOLLÁ, Katarína: Kyberšikana, Bratislava, Iris, 2013.
- Huebner, E. Scott Gilman, Rich Furlong, Michael J. (2009): A conceptual model for research in positive psychology in children and youth, in Rich Gilman E. Scott Huebner Michael J. Furlong (eds.): *Handbook of positive psychology in schools*, Routledge/ Taylor & Francis Group, 2009, 3–8.
- Hunter, Jeremy Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly: Happiness in everyday life: The uses of experience sampling, *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being* 4(2003), 185–199, https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1024409732742
- JANŠTOVÁ, Eva SLEZÁČKOVÁ, Alena: Pozitivní edukace: inspirace pro zlepšení kvality vzdělávání, Lifelong Learning 8 (2018), 7–24, https://doi.org/10.11118/lifele201808037
- JONES, Vicki Jo, Jun H. (2004): Ubiquitous learning environment: An adaptive teaching system using ubiquitous technology, in R. Atkinson C. McBeath D. Jonas-Dwyer R. Phillips (eds.): Beyond the comfort zone: Proceedings of the 21st ASCILITE Conference, 468–474. Perth, 5–8 December. http://www.ascilite.org.au/conferences/perth04/procs/jones.html
- Kačáni, Vladislav: *Základy učiteľskej psychológie*, Bratislava, Slovenské pedagogické nakladateľstvo-Mladé letá, 1997.
- Kahancová, Mária Nábělková, Eva: 2013. Integrita ako cnosť z pohľadu psychológie (Integrity as a Virtue in Psychology), in Lada Kaliská: *Vybraté aspekty psychológie morálky*, Banská Bystrica, PF UMB, 2013, 72–87.
- Kantorová, Jana: Školní klima na školách poskytujících střední vzdělání s výučním listem, Olomouc, UPOL, 2015.
- Karcher, Michael J.: The cycle of violence and disconnection among rural middleschool students: Teacher disconnectedness as a consequence of violence, *Journal of School Violence* 1(2002), 35–51, https://doi.org/10.1300/J202v01n01_03
- KARDOS, Susan, M. et al. (2007): On Their Own and Presumed Expert: New Teachers' Experience with Their Colleagues, *The Teachers College Record*, 109(9), 2083–2106, https://doi.org/10.1177/016146810710900903
- Keyes, Corey L. M.: Mental health in adolescence: Is America's youth flourishing?, *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry* 76 (2006), 395–402, http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/0002-9432.76.3.395
- Klein, Jennifer Cornell, Dewey. Konold, Timothy (2012): Relationship between bullying school climate and student risk behaviors, *School Psychology Quarterly*, 27, 154–169, https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029350
- Koníčková, Jaroslava: Šťastie v školách: Nezabúdajme na vďačnosť, Eduworld, portál pre vzdelávanie a samovzdelávacie, Bratislava, Eduworld s. r. o., 2019. https://eduworld.sk/cd/jaroslava-konickova/407/stastie-v-skolach-nezabudajme-na-vdacnost

- Koreňová, Soňa: Príklady dobrej praxe Aktivity na triednických hodinách, *Didaktika*, ročník 2020, číslo 6/2020, https://www.direktor.sk/sk/casopis/didaktika/priklady-dobrej-praxe-aktivity-na-triednickych-hodinach.m-1013.html
- Kosciw, Joseph Diaz, Elizabeth M.: *National School Climate Survey: The Experiences of Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender Youth in Our Nation's Schools,* New York, Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education Network, 2006.
- Košťálová, Lucia: Úvod do psychológie, Brno, Tribun EU, 2016.
- Kováč, Damián: Cnosti faktorové vlastnosti systémové regulátory, Československá psychologie 51 (1997), 559–564.
- Kremnická, Magdaléna:. Tvorba kompetenčného modelu vysokoškolského učiteľa z pohľadu rôznych skupín študentov in: *JUVENILIA PAEDAGOGIC*, Trnava, Trnavská univerzita, 2021, 85–96.
- KŘIVOHLAVÝ, Jaro: Pozitivní psychologie, Praha, Portál, 2010, 2015.
- LARSON, Reed W. (2000): Toward a psychology of positive youth development, *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 170–183.
- Linkins, Mark Niemiec, Ryan M. Gillham, Jane. Mayerson, Donna (2015): Through the lens of strength: A framework for educating the heart, *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 10(1), 64–68
- Liška, Roman: Spokojenosť žáků středných odborných škol v hlavním městě Praze, in *Prohuman, Andragogika/Výskumné príspevky,* 2021. https://www.prohuman.sk/print/andragogika/spokojenost-zaku-strednich-odbornych-skol-v-hlavnim-meste-praze
- LLERAS, Christy: Do skills and behaviors in high school matter? The contribution of non-cognitive factors in explaining differences in educational attainment and earnings, *Social Science Research* 37 (2008), 888–902, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2008.03.004
- LYNCH, Matthew: It's time for a change: school reform for the next decade, 2012, *CHOICE:*Current Reviews for Academic Libraries, American Library Association CHOICE, 49(10), 1935.
- MACEK, Petr: Adolescence, Praha, Portál, 2003.
- Malík, Branislav: *Pedagogická antropológia I. Antropologické pozadie výchovy*, Bratislava, Vydavateľstvo IRIS, 2013.
- MASLOWSKI, Ralf (2001): School culture and school performance, Netherlands, Twente University Press.
- Mareš, Jiří: Posttraumatický rozvoj člověka, Praha, Grada, 2012.
- MAREŠ, Jiří: Pozitívní psychologie důvod k zamyšlení i výzva, Čs. psychologie 2 (2002), 97–117.
- MAREŠ, Jiří: Nová taxonomie kladných stránok človeka inšpirácia pre pedagogiku a pedagogickou psychologii, *Pedagogika* LVIII (2008), 4–20.
- MELLIBRUDA, Jerzy: *Ja-Ty-My. Možnosti psychológie zlepšovať medziľudské vzťahy*, Bratislava, Smena, 1990.
- Meraviglia, Martha G. Becker, Heather Rosenbluth, Barri Sanchez, Ellen Robertson, Trina (2003): The expect respect project: Creating a positive elementary

- school climate, Journal of Interpersonal Violence 18, 1347–1360, https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260503257457
- MEYER-ADAMS, Nancy CONNER, Bradley T. (2008): School violence: Bullying behaviours and the psychosocial school environment in middle schools, *Children & Schools*, 30, 211–221, https://doi.org/10.1093/cs/30.4.211
- MOORE, Catherina: What is Positive Education, and How Can We Apply It?, 2020. https://positivepsychology.com/what-is-positive-education/
- MYERS, David, G.: The Funds, Friends, and Faith of Happy People. February 2000, *American Psychologist* 55 (2000), 56–67, https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.56
- Noble, Toni McGrath, Helen: Prosper: A New Framework for Positive Eduaction, *Psych Well-Being* 5, (2015), http://doi.org/10.1186/s13612-015-0030-2
- NORRISH, Jacolyn M. Seligman, Martin E. (2015): Positive education: The Geelong Grammar School journey, *Oxford Positive Psychology Series*.
- Nováčková, Jana: Mýty ve vzdělávání, Kroměříž, Spirála, 2010.
- Novotný, Jan Sebastian Křeménková, Lucie: The relationship between resilience and academic performance at youth placed at risk, Československá Psychologie: Časopis Pro Psychologickou Teorii a Praxi 60 (2016), 553–566.
- Nowicki, S. Jr. Duke, M. P.: The association of children's nonverbal decodingabilities with their popularity, locus of control, and academic achievement, *Journal of Genetic Psychology*, 153 (1992b), 385–393, https://doi.org/10.1080/00221325.1992.10753734
- Nowicki, S. Jr. Duke, M. P.: Individual Differences in the Nonverbal Communication of Affect, *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior* 18(1994), 9–35, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02169077
- Orosová, Renáta: *Zážitková pedagogika v pregraduálnej príprave*, Košice, Vydavateľstvo ŠafárikPress, 2020.
- Paus, Tomas Keshavan, Matcheri Giedd, Jay N.: Why do many psychiatric disorders emerge during adolescence?, *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 9 (2008), 947–57, https://www.nature.com/articles/nrn2513
- Peterson, Christopher Park, Nansook Sweeney, Patrick J.: Group Well-Being: Morale from a Positive Psychology Perspective, *Applied Psychology* 57 (2008), 19–36, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00352.x
- Peterson, Christopher Park, Nansooka Seligman, Martin E.: Orientations to happiness and life satisfaction: The full life versus the empty life, *Journal of Happiness Studies* 6 (2005), 25–41.
- Peterson, Christopher Seligman, Martin: Character Strengths and Virtues: A Handbook and Classification, Washington DC, Oxford University Press American Psychological Association, 2004.
- ${\tt SIMMEL, G.: } \textit{The sociology of Georg Simmel}, \textit{tr. Kurt H. Wolff, Glencoe, IL, Free Press, 1950}.$
- Peterson, Christopher: A primer in positive psychology, Oxford University Press, 2006.
- Petlák, Erich: Inovácie v didaktike, Bratislava, Wolters Kluwer, 2020.
- Petlák, Erich: Vplyv emócií a edukáciu, *Manažment školy v praxi : odborný mesačník pre školy a školské zariadenia* 13 (2018), 2–7.
- Petlák, Erich: Klíma školy a klíma triedy, Bratislava, Iris, 2006.

- Petrulyte, Ala Guogiene, Virginija Rimiene, Vaiva: Adolescent Social Emotional Health, Empathy, and Self-esteem: Preliminary Validation of the Lithuanian Version of the SEHS-S Questionnaire, *Psychology in Russia*. *State of the arts* 12 (2019), 196–209.
- Radnóti, Erik Holbling, Silvia: Sociálno-emocionálne zdravie stredoškolákov v kontexte depresie, in *Duševné zdravie a wellbeing virtuálnej generácie:* Zborník príspevkov z medzinárodnej vedeckej konferencie 21.11.2018, Bratislava, IPčko, 2018, 298–304.
- Resnicka, Stella et al. (2001): The Humanistic Psychology and Positive Psychology Connection: Implications for Psychotherapy, *Journal of Humanistic Psychology* 41(1):73–101, https://doi.org/10.1177/0022167801411006
- REY ARGUÍS, Ricardo et al. (2010): Programa "AULAS FELICES" Psicología Positiva aplicada a la Educación. Equipo SATI (2010), http://catedu.es/psicologiapositiva (Accessed June, 28, 2012.)
- RIVERS, Ian POTEAT, V. Paul NORET, Nathalie ASHURST, Nigel: Observing bullying at school: The mental health implications of witness status, *School Psychology Quarterly* 24 (2009), 211–223, https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018164
- Rosová, Dana: *Preventívny program pre žiakov s poruchami správania*, Košice, EQUILIB-RIA, 2018.
- Seligman, Martin: Authentic Happiness. Using the New Positive Psychology to Realise your Potential for Lasting Fulfilment, London, Nocholas Brealey Publishing, 2017.
- Seligman, Martin: Vzkvétání, Praha, Jan Melvil publishing, 2014.
- Seligman, Martin: Flourish: A Visionary New Understanding of Happiness and Well-being, New York, Simon and Schuster, 2012.
- Seligman, M. E. P. (2002): Positive psychology, positive prevention, and positive therapy, in C. R. Snyder S. J. Lopez (eds.): *Handbook of positive psychology*, Oxford, Oxford University Press, 2002, 3–9.
- SHELDON, Kennon M. ABAD, Neetu FERGUSON, Yuna GUNZ, Alexander –HOUSER-MARKO, Linda NICHOLS, Charles P. LYUBOMIRSKY, Sonja: Persistent pursuit of need-satisfying goals leads to increased happiness: A 6-month experimental longitudinal study, *Motivation and Emotion* 34(2010), 39–48, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11031-009-9153-1
- SLEZÁČKOVÁ, Alena: Průvodce pozitivní psychologií, Praha, Grada, 2012.
- Slazáčková, Alena: *Hope and Well-being: Psychosocial Correlates and Benefits.* 1. vydanie, Malta, University of Malta, 2017.
- SLEZÁČKOVÁ, Alena (2011): Škola jako pozitivně fungujíci instituce. Praha: *Řízení školy*, vyd. Wolters Kluwer ČR, 3 s., roč, 18, č.2.
- SLEZÁČKOVÁ, Alena (2010): Pozitivní psychologie–věda nejen o štěstí. Psycholgie.elektronický časopis ČMPS, 2010, roč. 4, č. 3
- SLEZÁČKOVÁ, Alena: Průvodce pozitivní psychologií, Praha, Grada, 2009.
- SNYDER, Charles. R. LOPEZ, Shane. J. (eds.): *Handbook of positive psychology*, Oxford University Press, 2002.
- ŠOLCOVÁ, Iva (2005): Stinné stránky pozitivní psychologie, *Československá psychologie*, 49 (4), 363–366.

- ŠPAJDEL, Marián JURÁSOVÁ, Kinga: Vzťah emócií a kognície z hľadiska teórie kognitívneho zhodnotenia, *Ostium–internetový časopis pre humanitné vedy, ročník*, Vol. 8, 2012.
- Suldo Shannon Thalji, Amanda Ferron, John: Longitudinal academic outcomes predicted by early adolescents' subjective well-being, psychopathology, and mental health status yielded from a dual factor model, *The Journal of Positive Psychology* 6(2011), 17–30, https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2010.536774
- SYVERTSEN Amy K. FLANAGAN, Constance A. STOUT, Michael D.: Code of silence: Students' perceptions of school climate and willingness to intervene in a peer's dangerous plan, *Journal of Educational Psychology* 101 (2009), 219–232, https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013246
- ŠKAMRLÍK, Pavel (2017): *Jak vytvářet a podporovat kvalitní klima školy?* [online] Dostupné: https://www.rizeniskoly.cz/cz/aktuality/jak-vytvaret-a-podporovat-kvalitni-klima-skoly.a-2263.html
- ŠTOFKOVÁ, Dianovská Alžbeta et al. (2020): Správa o stave a úrovni výchovy a vzdelávania v školách a školských zariadeniach v Slovenskej republike v školskom roku 2019/2020, Bratislava: Štátna školská inšpekcia, 284, https://www.ssi.sk/2021/05/10/sikanovanie-awellbeing-ziakov-v-slovenskych-skolach/#_ftnref1
- Šuťáková, Valentína Ferencová, Janka Rovňanová, Lenka: *Inovatívna kultúra učiacej sa školy*, Prešov: Fakulta humanitných a prírodných vied, 2019.
- Taher, Reham Al (2016): The Classification of Character Strengths and Virtues, https://positivepsychology.com/classification-character-strengths-virtues/ (Registration Number: 64733564).
- Tamášová, Viola Kušnieriková, Zuzana (2018): Emocionalita v rodine ako významný faktor well-being stredoškolákov [Emotionality in the family as an important factor of secondary school students' wellbeing], in Eva Gajdošová Marek Madro Marta Valihorová (eds.): *Duševné zdravie a wellbeing virtuálnej generácie*. Zborník príspevkov z medzinárodnej vedeckej konferencie, 21.11.2018, Bratislava, IPčko, 2018, 32–48.
- Thapa, Amrit Cohen, Jonathan Guffey, Shawn Higgins-D'Alessandro, Ann (2013): A Review of School Climate Research, *Review of Educational Research*, 83 (3), 357–385. http://www.jstor.org/stable/24434163
- Urbánek, Petr (2021): Výzkum klimatu učitelského sboru: potenciál smíšené metodologie, Pedagogika, https://doi.org/10.14712/23362189.2020.1666
- Valjentová, Zuzana (2022): *Uplatňovanie prvkov pozitívnej edukácie pri tvorbe klímy školy a triedy*, Dubnica nad Váhom, Vysoká škola DTI. Diplomová práca.
- VALJENTOVÁ, Zuzana (2020): *Pozitívna edukácie paradigma súčasnej edukácie*, Dubnica nad Váhom, Vysoká škola DTI. Bakalárska práca.
- VAVŘÍKOVÁ, Hana (2017): Výchova dospělých v kontextu 21. století, in Nina Kozárová Róbert Tomšík (eds.): *Paradigmy zmien edukácie v 21. storočí.* Zborník príspevkov z XIV. medzinárodnej vedeckej konferencie doktorandov a postdoktorandov, 10–39.
- Walterová, Eliška Prucha, Jan: Pedagogický slovník, Praha, Portál, 2001.
- Waterman, Alan S. Schwartz, Seth J. Conti, Regina (2008): The implications of two conceptions of happiness (hedonic enjoyment and eudaimonia) for the understanding

- of intrinsic motivation, *Journal of Happiness Studies: An Interdisciplinary Forum on Subjective Well-Being*, 9(1), 41–79, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-006-9020-7
- WAY, Niobe REDDY, Ranjini RHODES, Jean (2008): Students' Perceptions of School Climate During the Middle School Years: Associations with Trajectories of Psychological and Behavioral Adjustment, *American Journal of Community Psychology* 40 (3–4), 194–213, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-007-9143-y
- YONEYAMA, Shoko RIGBY, Ken (2006): Bully/victim students and classroom climate, *Youth Studies Australia* 25(3), 34–41.
- ZAPLETAL, Ladislav: Sociologie pro pedagogy, Týn nad Vltavou Malá Strana, Nová Forma, 2020.
- Zelina, Miron (2021): Cesty k humanizácii školstva, *Pedagogické rozhľady*. In *Odbornometodický časopis pre školy a školské prostredie*, 30 (5), 4–5.
- Zelina, Miron: *Psychoedukácia aplikovaná pedagogická psychológia*. Dubnica nad Váhom: Vysoká škola DTI s. r. o., 2018.
- Zelina, Miron et al.: Škola v interdisciplinárnom kontexte, Brno, Tribun, (2016).
- ZIMBARDO, Philip: Luciferuv efekt, Praha, Academia, 2014.
- Zімваrdo, Philip Coulombová, Nikita D.: Odpojený muž, Praha, Grada, 2017.

L'Harmattan France-Hongrie, Collection Károli

Anikó Ádám, Enikő Sepsi, Stéphane Kalla (eds.): Contempler l'infini

Tibor Fabiny, Sára Tóth (eds.): *The King James Bible 1611–2011. Prehistory and Afterlife*

Katalin G. Kállay, Mátyás Bánhegyi, Ádám Bogár, Géza Kállay, Judit Nagy, Balázs Szigeti (eds.): *The Arts of Attention*

Katalin G. Kállay, Nóra D. Nagy, Elizabeth Walsh, Ádám Fónai, Béla Erik Haga, Péter Káplár, Krisztina Milovszky, Gergely Molnár, Dorina Obrankovics,

Tamás Szanyi (eds.): This is Just to Say. A Collection of Creative Student-Responses

György Kurucz (ed.): Protestantism, Knowledge and the World of Science

Brigitte Geißler-Piltz, Éva Nemes, Sijtze de Roos (eds.): *Inspire and Be Inspired. A Sample of Research on Supervision and Coaching in Europe*

Johanna Domokos: Endangered Literature. Essays on Translingualism, Interculturality, and Vulnerability

Tímea Kovács: Code-Switching and Optimality. An Optimalitytheoretical Approach to the Socio-pragmatic Patterns of Hungarian-English Code-switching

Viktória Semsey (ed.): National Identity and Modernity 1870–1945. Latin America, Southern Europe, East Central Europe

Anita Czeglédy, Géza Horváth (Hg.): Inspirationen III. Wege

Renáta Raáb: Austria's Schleswig Policy 1848-1852

Anita Czeglédy, Anikó Szilágyi-Kósa (Hg.) unter Mitarbeit von József Fülöp: Geopoetische Reisen in Mitteleuropa. Studien zur Sprache und Kultur

Krisztina Kovács: La relation poétique entre l'oeuvre d'Yves Bonnefoy et celle de Paul Celan

Ádám Bethlenfalvy: Living Through Extremes in Process Drama

Marcus Kracht: Knowledge and Material Culture. How much Knowledge can we Afford?

Anikó Daróczi, Enikő Sepsi, Miklós Vassányi (eds.): *Initiation into the Mysteries. A Collection of Studies in Religion, Philosophy and the Arts*

Judit Mudriczki: Shakespeare's Art of Poesy in King Lear. An Emblematic Mirror of Governance on the Jacobean Stage

Zoltán Literáty: Rhetorical Preaching. Studies in Rhetoric, Homiletics & Preaching

László Tarnói: Schnittpunkte. Band 1. Literarisches Leben des deutschsprachigen Ungarn um 1800

Anita Rákóczy, Mariko Hari Tanaka, Nicholas E. Johnson (eds.): Influencing Beckett / Beckett Influencing

Johanna Domokos, Enikő Sepsi (eds.): *Poetic Rituality in Theater and Literature*

Miklós Vassányi, Judit Nagy, Mátyás Bánhegyi, Dóra Bernhardt, Enikő Sepsi (eds.): *Minorities in Canada. Intercultural Investigations*

Anita Czeglédy, József Fülöp, Géza Horváth (Hg.): *Inspirationen IV. Klänge*

Pál Heltai: Hungarian-English Contrastive Linguistic Studies

Anita Czeglédy, József Fülöp, Géza Horváth (Hg.): Streben und Dienst 25 Jahre Germanistik an der Károli

Péter Furkó: An Interdisciplinary Approach to Discourse-Pragmatic Variation in English

Árpád Kékesi Kun: Ambiguous Topicality. A Philther of State-Socialist Hungarian Theatre

Tamás Juhász (ed.): Art in Urban Space. Reflections on City Culture in Europe and North-America

Ágota Fóris, Andrea Bölcskei (eds.): Linguistic Research in the Fields of Content Development and Documentation

Anita Rákóczy: Samuel Beckett's Endgame and Hungarian Opening Gambits

Ágota Fóris: Translation and Terminology. Theory and Practice in Hungary

Izolda Takács: Through a Glass Darkly

Géza Horváth, József Fülöp, Anita Czeglédy (Hg.): Inspirationen V.

Marianna Deganutti, Johanna Domokos, Judit Mudriczky: Code-Switching in Arts

Johanna Domokos, Marianna Deganutti: *Literary Code-Switching*and Beyond

Balázs Fajt: Extramural English Activities and Individual Learner Differences

Imre Lázár: Social and Cultural Psychoimmunology

Pál Heltai: Hungarian-English Linguistic Contrasts

STRUCTURES ÉDITORIALES DU GROUPE L'HARMATTAN

L'HARMATTAN ITALIE

Via degli Artisti, 15 10124 Torino harmattan.italia@gmail.com

L'HARMATTAN HONGRIE

Kossuth L. u. 14-16. 1053 Budapest harmattan@harmattan.hu

L'HARMATTAN SÉNÉGAL

10 VDN en face Mermoz BP 45034 Dakar-Fann senharmattan@gmail.com

L'HARMATTAN MALI

Sirakoro-Meguetana V31 Bamako syllaka@yahoo.fr

L'HARMATTAN CAMEROUN

TSINGA/FECAFOOT BP 11486 Yaoundé inkoukam@gmail.com

L'Harmattan Togo

Djidjole – Lomé Maison Amela face EPP BATOME ddamela@aol.com

L'HARMATTAN BURKINA FASO

Achille Somé - tengnule@hotmail.fr

L'HARMATTAN CÔTE D'IVOIRE

Résidence Karl – Cité des Arts Abidjan-Cocody 03 BP 1588 Abidjan espace_harmattan.ci@hotmail.fr

L'HARMATTAN GUINÉE

Almamya, rue KA 028 OKB Agency BP 3470 Conakry harmattanguinee@yahoo.fr

L'HARMATTAN ALGÉRIE

22, rue Moulay-Mohamed 31000 Oran info2@harmattan-algerie.com

L'HARMATTAN RDC

185, avenue Nyangwe Commune de Lingwala – Kinshasa matangilamusadila@yahoo.fr

L'HARMATTAN MAROC

5, rue Ferrane-Kouicha, Talaâ-Elkbira Chrableyine, Fès-Médine 30000 Fès harmattan.maroc@gmail.com

L'HARMATTAN CONGO

67, boulevard Denis-Sassou-N'Guesso BP 2874 Brazzaville harmattan.congo@yahoo.fr

NOS LIBRAIRIES EN FRANCE

LIBRAIRIE INTERNATIONALE

16, rue des Écoles – 75005 Paris librairie.internationale@harmattan.fr 01 40 46 79 11 www.librairieharmattan.com

LIBR. SCIENCES HUMAINES & HISTOIRE

21, rue des Écoles – 75005 paris librairie.sh@harmattan.fr 01 46 34 13 71 www.librairieharmattansh.com

LIBRAIRIE L'ESPACE HARMATTAN

21 bis, rue des Écoles – 75005 Paris librairie.espace@harmattan.fr 01 43 29 49 42

LIBR. MÉDITERRANÉE & MOYEN-ORIENT

7, rue des Carmes – 75005 Paris librairie.mediterranee@harmattan.fr 01 43 29 71 15

LIBRAIRIE LE LUCERNAIRE

53, rue Notre-Dame-des-Champs – 75006 Paris librairie@lucernaire.fr 01 42 22 67 13